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Department ofTranspoiialion

David Rodrigue, P.E.
Assistant Commissioner

William Cass, P.E.
Commissioner

Andre Briere, Colonel, USAF (RET)
Deputy Commissioner

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu Bureau of Rail & Transit
and the Honorable Council April 26, 2023

State House
Concord, NH 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Transportation to enter into an agreement with Southwestern Community
Services, Inc. (Vendor 177511), Keene, NH, for an amount not to exceed $1,132,200 for transportation
services for the period July 1, 2023, through June 30,2025, effective upon Governor and Council
approval. 100% Federal Funds.

Funding for this agreement is contingent upon the availability of funds in Fiscal Year 2024 and Fiscal
Year 2025, with the ability to adjust encumbrances through the Budget Office between State Fiscal Years
if needed and Justified.

FY 2024 FY 2025
04-96-96-964010-2916
Public Transportation
072-500575 Grants to Non-Profits-Federal $566,100 $566,100

EXPLANATION

Southwestern Community Services, Inc. (SCS) has been awarded Federal Transit Administration (FTA)
Section 5310 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities (Section 5310) funds, in the
amount of $304,200, and FTA Section 5311 (Section 5311) Rural Area Formula Program funds, in the
amount of $828,000, for a total contract amount of $1,132,200 to provide transportation services in
Sullivan County.

SCS is a private, non-profit organization that provides rural public transportation, including transportation
for seniors and individuals with disabilities, in Sullivan County. For the FY 2024-2025 biennium, SCS
will receive $828,000 of Section 5311 funds and $304,200 of Section 5310 funds for the Region 4
Sullivan County Regional Coordinating Council (RCC) service area. SCS's total contract for
transportation services is $1,132,200 and details relative to each funding program, and SCS's award of
these funds, are outlined below.

The Department's proposed SFY 2024 and 2025 operating budget includes funds from the Section 5311
that provides funds for capital, planning, and operating assistance for public transportation in rural areas
with populations of less than 50,000.

JOHN 0. MORTON BUILDING • 7 HAZEN DRIVE • P.O. BOX 483 • CONCORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03302-0483
TELEPHONE; (603) 271-3734 • FAX: (603) 271-3914 • TDD: RELAY NH 1-800-735-2964 •WWW.NHDOT.COM



The Department released a public notice on February 16, 2023, announcing the availability of Section
5311 funds. Applications for requested funding were due on March 21, 2023. The Department received
applications for six (6) rural public transit systems and awarded funding to each transportation system.
The systems and their respective application scores are as follows:

Transit System Applicant
Average

Score

Concord Area Transit Community Action Program Belknap-Merrimack Counties, Inc.
(existing services)

83%

Advance Transit Advance Transit, Inc. (existing services) 81%

City Express VNA at Home Healthcare, Hospice & Community Services
(existing services) 76%

Sullivan County
Transportation

Southwestern Community Services (existing services)
76%'

North Country Transit Tri-County Community Action Program (existing services) 74%

Advance Transit Advance Transit, Inc. (expansion - evening services) 73%

Advance Transit . . Advance Transit, Inc. (expansion - Saturday services) 73%

CaiToll County Transit Tri-County Community Action Program (existing services) 72%

An evaluation committee that consisted of the Public Transportation Administrator, Fred Butler, Transit
Grants Coordinator, Paula Devens, and the Transit Compliance Specialist, Cathy Cormier reviewed,
evaluated, and scored FTA Section 5311 applications based on'criteria as indicated in the application
materials and the Department's State Management Plan for FTA programs. The evaluation matrix is
provided below for reference:

Evaluation Criteria '' Weight

1
The proposed service effectively addresses an NHDOT policy goal (per statewide transit
study) and/or the proposed service is a continuation of existing services.

15%

2'
The applicant has the fiscal and technical capacity and adequate budget to operate its
service and demonstrates successful experience in providing transportation services.

30%

3

The application demonstrates an effort to involve the private sector in the deliveiy of
transportation services as well as involvement in and support for the project, financial and
otherwise, on the part of citizens and local government.

20%

4

The applicant successfully demonstrates service efficiency arid effectiveness, measured in
ridership, service miles and hours, costs, and fare recovery as applicable. New applicants
must demonstrate the ability to measure performance and achieve goals.

15%

5
The application shows-coordination with other transportation providers in the service area:
public, nonprofit, and for-proflt.

10%

6
The applicant complies with relevant Federal and state regulations and has a history of
compliance with regulations and reporting requirements.

10%

Note: Every application met the Department's criteria for inclusion in its SPY 2024-2025 public
transit funding plan and will be awarded separate amounts for the transit systems.



The Department's proposed SFY 2024 and 2025 operating budget includes-funds from Section 5310 that
^ provides funds for capital, contracted services, and mobility management for seniors and individuals with
disabilities in New Hampshire.

SCS has also been awarded FTA Section 5310 funds in the amount of $304,200 for the FY 2024-2025
biennium. SCS will act as the lead agency for Region 4 Sullivan County Regional Coordinating Council
(RCC) to facilitate the provision of accessible demand response transportation services for seniors and
individuals with disabilities within the region and will support mobility management and strategic -
planning activities in cooperation with the Region 4 RCC. As the lead agency SCS is tasked with applying
for FTA Section 5310 RCC funds on behalf of Region 4. , '

The Section 5310 RCC funds were allocated by region, according to a formula based on regional
populations of residents over 65 and those between the ages of 5-64 with disabilities. Each individual
RCC was responsible for conducting its own project solicitation, evaluation, and prioritization and then
submitting one regional application for eligible Section 5310'RCC projects through an approved lead
agency. The Sullivan County RCC representing Region 4 designated SCS as the lead agency for Region 4
and tasked SCS with applying for Section 5310 RCC funds on behalf of the Region. As required by FTA,
this project is identified in a locally developed coordinated public transit-human services'transportation
plan. . '

SCS, in conjunction with its regional partners as applicable, will provide the remaining required non-
federal matching funds. In the event that Federal Funds become unavailable, general funds will not be
requested to support this program.

The Agreement has been approved by the Attorney General as to form and execution and the Department
will verify the necessary funds are available pending enactment of the Fiscal Year 2024 and 2025 budget.
Copies of the fully executed Agreement are on file at the Secretary of State's Office and the Department
of Administrative Services, and subsequent to Governor and Council approval will be on flle'at the
Department of Transportation. ^

Your approval of this resolution is respectfully requested. •

Sincerely,

Williarn Cass, P.E.

Commissioner

Attachments



FORM NUMBER G-1 (version 11/2021)

Subject- 2024 - 2025 FTA Section 5310 RCC Region 4 , SFY 2024 - 2025 FTA Section 5311

GRANT AGREEMENT

The Slate of New Hampshire and the Grantee hereby
Mutually agree as foilows: < n

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Identification and Definitions.

1.1. State Agency Name

NH Department of Transportation

1.2. State Agency Address,

PO Box 483 & Hazen Dr. Concord. NH
03302-0483

1.3. Grantee Name

Southwestern Community Services, Inc.

1.4. Grantee Address

6 Kjnney Place Claremont, NH 03743-3748 /

..1.5 .Grantee Phone #

603-542-9609 ^

-.1.6. Account Number.

04-96-96-964010-2916-0

72-500575 '

1.7. Completion.Date ,

June 30, 2025 '

, 1.8. Granl.Lirnilatipn...

$ 1,132,200.00

1.9. Grant Officer for State Agency

Frederick Butler, Public Transportation Administrator,
Bureau of Rail & Transit

1.10. State Agency Telephone Number

603-271-2565
t  »

If Grantee is a municipalify or village district: "By signing this form we certify that we have complied with
anv public meetine reaiiircment for acceptance of this grant, including if applicable RSA 31:95-b.*'

1.11. Grantee Signature 1 1.12. Name & Title of Grantee Signer 1

Se.-ih^DaunitlSyG£0

Grantee Signature 2

N/A

Name & Title of Grantee Signor 2

N/A "

Grantee Signature 3 >

N/A ^

Name & Title of Grantee Signor 3

N/A

1.13 State Agency Signature(s) 1.14. Name & Title of State Agency Signor(s)

/A t c-L-i u... C. to '
Director of Aeronautics, Rail & Transit

1.15. Approval by Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) (if G & C approval required)

By: ■ Assrsrant Attorney ̂ enefalrOn:

1.16. Approval by Governor and Council (if applicable) '

ByT - On: |

2. SCOPE OF WORK: In exchange for grant funds provided by the State of New Hampshire, acting
through the Agency identified in block 1..1 (hereinafter referred to as "the State"), the Grantee identified in
block 1.3 (hereinafter referred to as "the Grantee"), shall perform that, work identified and more particularly
described in the scope of work attached hereto as EXHIBIT B (the scope of work being hereinafter referred to
as "the Project").
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4.

4.1.

4.2.

S.

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

7.

7.1.

7.2.

8.2.

8.3.

9.

9.1,

AREA COVERED. Except as otherwise specifically provided for herein, the
.Grantee shall perform the Project in. and with respect to. the Stale of New
Hampshire. ,
EFFECTIVE DATE: COMPLETION OF PROJECT.

'Ihis Agrcenient, and all obligations of the panics hcreunder. shall become
effective on the date on the date of approval of this Agreement by the CovnTtor
and Council of the State of New Hampshire if required (block 1.16). or upon
signature by the State Agmcy as shown in block 1.14 ( nhe Effective Date").
Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the Project, including all rcpons
required by this Agreement, shall.he completed in ITS entirety prior to the date in
block 1.7 (hereinafter referred to as "the Completion Date").
GRANT AMOUNT: LIMITATION ON AMOUNT: VOUCHERS:

PAYMENT.

The Grant Amount is identified and more particularly dc.icrihcd in EXHIBIT C.
attached hereto.

The manner of. and schedule of payment shall be as set forth in QXMIOIT C.
In accordance with the provisions set forth in EXHIBIT C. and in consideration
of the satisfactory performance of the Project, as determined by the State, and as
limited by subparagraph 5.5 of these general provisions, the State shall pay the
Grantee the Grant Amount, lite State shall withhold from the amount otherwise

payable to the Grantee under this subparagraph 5;3 those sums required, or
permitted, to be withheld pitrsuant to N.H. RSA 80:7 through 7-c.
The payitient by the Stale of the Grant amount shall be the only. and the complete
payment to the Grantee for all expenses, of whatever nature, incurred by the
Grantee in the perfontiance hereof, and shall be the only, and the complete,
compensation to the Grantee for the Project. The State shall have no liabilities to
the Grantee other thari the Grant Amount. -

Notwith.standing anything in this Agreement to the coniraiy, and notwithstanding
unexpected circumstances, in no event shall the total of all payments authorised,
or actually made, hcreunder exceed the Grant limitation set forth in block 1.8 of
these general provisions.
COMPLIANCE BY GRANTEE WITH l.AWS AND REGULATIONS. In

connection with the perfontiance of the Project, the Grantee shall comply with all
statutes, laws regulations, and orders of federal, state, county, or municipal
authorities which shall impose any obligations ordutyupon the Grantee, including
the acquisition of any and all necessaiy permits and RSA 31-95-b.

• RECORDS and ACCOUNTS.

Between the Effective Date and ihe.date.seven (7) years.af\er..ihe Completion
Date, unless otherwise required by the grant lenns or the Agency, the Grantee
shall keep detailed accounts of all expenses incurred.in connection wiih the
Project, including, but not limited tu. costs of administration, transportation,
insurance, telephone calls, and clerical materials and seivices. Such accounts
shall be .supported by receipl.s. invuices.'bilLs and other sitnilar documents.
Between the EITeciive Date and the date .seven (7) years after the Cotnplclion
Date, unless otherwise required by the grant terms or the Agency pursuant to
subparagraph 7.1. at any litrte during the Giantcc's normal business hours, and as
often as the State shall demand, the Giantcc shall make available to the State all

records pertaining to matters covered by this Agreement. Ihe Gianiee shall
peniiit the State to audit, examine, and reproduce such records, and to make audits
of all COUtractS, ilivuices, uidlciittls. payiolU, leCoids of peisoiincl, ddia (as (hat
tentt is hereinafter defined), and.other infomtation relating to all matters covered
by this Agreemertl. As used in this paragraph, "Grantee" includes all persons,
natuial or fictional, affiliated with, controlled by. or under common ownership
with, the entity identified as thc Grantee in block 1.3 of these provisions
PERSONNEL. •

The Grantee shall, at its own expense, provide all personnel neccssa^ to perfomt
the Project. The Grantee warrants that all pcisonnel engaged in the Project shall
be qualified to perform .such Project, and shall be properly licensed and authorised
to perform such Project under all applicable laws.
The Grantee shall not hire, and it shall not permit any subcontractor.'subgraniee.
or other person, firm or corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined effort
to perform the Project, to hire any person who has a contractual relationship with
the Slate, or who is a State officer or employee, elected or appointed.
The Grant OfTicer shall be the representative of the State hereunder. In the event
of any dispute hereunder. the interpretation of this Agreement by the Grant
Officer, and his/her decision on any dispute, shall be final.
DATA: RETENTION OF DATA: ACCESS. -

As used in this Agreement, the word "data" shall mean all information and things
developed or obtained during the performance of. or acquired or developed by
rcasun uf. this Agreement, including, but nut limited tu, all studies, rcpurts. files,
fumiulae. sur\cys. maps, charts, suund recurdings, vidcu recordings, pictorial
icpioduciions. drawings, analyses, graphic repic$eniaiian.s.

compuier programs, computer printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, paper, and
documents, all whether finished or unfinished.

9.2. Between the EITcctivc Date and the Completion Date the Grantee shall grant to
the State, or any person designated by it. unrestricted access to all data for
examination, duplication, publication, translation, sale, disposal, or for any o''
purpose whatsoever.

9.3. No data shall be subject to copyright in the United Slates or any other country by
anyone other than the State.

9.4. On and after the Effective Date all data, and any property which has been received
from the State or purchased with funds provided for that purpose under this
Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and shall be relumed to the State
upon demand ur upon lenninaiiun uf this Agreenicni fur any reason, whichever
shall fust occur,

9.5. The Stale, and anyone it shall designate, shall have unrestricted authoiiiy to
puhli.sh, disclo.sc. distribute and otherwise use. in whole or in part, all data.

10. CONDITIGNAI. NATURE OR AGREEMENT Notwithstanding anything in
this Agrcanent to the contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder. including,
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder. arc contingent upon

' (he availability or continued appropriation of funds, and in no event shall the State
be liable for any payments hereunder in e.xcess of such available,or appropriated
funds. In the event of a reduction or termination of those funds, the State shall

have the right to withhold payment until such funds become available, ifever, and
shall have the tight to terminate this Agreement immediately upon giving the
Grantee notice of such termination.

11. EVENT OF DEFAULT: REMEDIES.

11.1. Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the Gi'dniee shall constitute
an event of default hereunder (hcrcinafler referred to as "Events of Dcfauh"):

I I.I.I Failure to perform the Project salisfaciorily or on schedule; or
1 1.1.2 Failure to submit any report required hereunder. or
11.1.3 Failure to maintain, or permit access to. the records required hereunder; or
1 1.1.4 Failure to pcrfotm any of the other covenants and conditions of this Agreement.
11.2. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State may take anyone, or more,

or all. of the following actions: ^
11.2.1 Give the Grantee a written notice specifying the Event of Default and requiring it

to be remedied within, in the absence of a greater or lesser specification of lime,
thirty (30) days from the date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is-not
timely remedied, terminate this Agreement. efTective two (2) days aflcr giving the

'  Grantee notice of termination; and, ^ . m.M »
11.2.2 Give the Grantee a wriitcn notice specifying the Event of Default and suspending

all payments to be made under (his Agreement and ordering that the portion 0*°
Grant Amount which would otherwise accrue lo the Grantee during (he pt
from the date of such notice unlil such liinc as the'Stale dclcntiines thai Uic

Grantee has cured the Event of Default shall never he paid to the Grantee; and
1 1.2.3 Set off against any other obligation the State may owe to the Grantee ariy damages

the State suffers by reason of any Event of Default; an^
1 1.2.4 Treat the agreement as breached and pursue any of its remedies at law or in equity..

or both.

12. TERMINATION.

12.1. in the event of any early termination of this Agreement for any reason other than
the Coiiiplctiuii uf llic PiujcCl, (lie Giaiilee siiall dclivci tu the Giaiil Offlcei. nut
later than fifteen (15) days afler the date of termination, a report (hereinafter
referred to as the "Termination Report") describing in detail all Project Work
pcrfonned, and the Grant Amount earned, to and including the date of teiminalion.
In the event of Temiination under paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of these general

12.2. provisions, ihe'approval of such a Temiination Report by the Slate shall entitle
the Grantee lo receive that portion of the Grant amount earned lo and including
the date of Icririination. ^ -
In the event of Temiination under .paragraphs 10 or 12.4 of these general

12.3. provisions, the approval of such a Temiination Report by the State shall in no
event relieve (he Grantee from any and all liability for damages sustained or
incurred by the Stale as a result of (he Grantee's breach of its obligations
hereunder.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, either the Stale or,
12.4. except where notice default has been given to the Grantee hereunder. the Grantee,

may terminate this Agreement without cause upon thirty (30) days writlcti notice.
13. CONFLICT OF INTEREST. No officer, member of employee of the Grantee,

and no reprcscniaiivc, officer or employee of the State of New Hampshire or of
the governing body of the locality or localities in which the Project is lo be
pcrfonned. who exercises any functions or responsibilities in the review or

\
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approval oT the undertaking or carrying out of such Project, shall participate in 17.2.
any decision relating to this Agreement which afTects his or her personal interest
or the interest of any corporation, partnership, or association in which he or she
is directly or indirectly interested, nor shall he or she have any personal ur
pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, in this Agrccnieni or the proceed.^ thereof.
HRANTF-FAS RELATION TO THE STATE. In the performance of this
Agrccmail the Grdntcc. its employees, and any subcontractor or subgrantcc of 18.
the Grantee are in all respects independent contractors, and are neither agents
nor employees of the State. Neither the Grantee nor any of its ofTicers.
ctnployces. agents, members, subcontractors or subgrantecs, shall have authority
to bind the Slate nor are ihcy entitled to any of the benefits, workmen's
compensation or ciiiolumenls provided by the State to its employees.

15. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTS. The Grantee shall not assign, or 19.
otherwise transfer any interest in this Agreement without the prior written
consent of the State. None of the Project Work shall be subcontracted or
subgranted by the Grantee other than as set forth in Exhibit B without the prior
wriiicn consent of the State. 20.

16. INDEMNIFICATION. The Grantee, shall defend, indemnify and hold
harmless (he State, its olTicers and employees, fiom and against any and all
losses suffered by the State, its oHiccrs and cmploycc.s. and any and all claims,
liahilllics or penalties asserted against the State, its ofTiccrs and employee.*, hy 21.
or on behalf of any person, on account of. based on. resulting from, arising out
of (or which may be claimed to arise but bfl the acts or omissioits'of the Grantee
or subcontractor, or subgrantcc or other agent of the Grantee. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver
of the sovereign immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby reserved to
the State. This covenant shall survive the termination of this agreement. 22.

17. INSURANCE.

17.1 1'he Grantee shall, at its own expense, obtain and tnaintain in force, or shall 2.1.
require any subconttacior. subgrantcc or assignee perfonning Project work to
obtain and maintain in force, both for the benefit of (he State, the following
insurance:

17.1.1 Statutory workers' compensation and ctnployces liability iosuraiKc for all -24.
employees engaged in the performance of the Project, and

17.1.2 General liability inttuiancc against all claims of bodily injuries, death orpropcuy
damage, in amounts not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000
aggregate for bodily injury or death any one incident, and SSOO.OOO for property
damage in any one incident: and

The policies described in subparagraph 17.1 of this paragraph shall be the standard
form employed in the State of New Hampshire, issued by underwriters acceptable
to the State, and authorized to do business in the State ufNcw Hampshire. Grantee
shall fumish to the State, certiricaies of insurance fur all rcncwal(s) of insurance
required under this Agreement no later than ten (10) days prior to the expiration
date of each insurance policy.
WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by the Slate to enforce any provisions
hereof after any Event of Default shall be deemed a waiver of its rights with regard
CO that Event, or any subsequent Event. No express waiver ofany Event of Default
shall be deemed a waiver of any provisions hereof. No such failure of waiver
shall be deemed a waiver of the tight of the State to enforce each and all of the
provisions hereof upon any further or other default on the part of the Grantee.
NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party shall be deemed to have
been duly delivered or given at the time of mailing by certified mail, postage
prepaid, in a United Slates Post OfTicc addressed to the parties at the addresses
first above given.
AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived or discharged only
by an instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto and only after approval of
such amendment, waiver or discharge by (he Governor and Council of the Slate
of New Hampshite. if required or by the signing State Agency.
CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERM.S. This Agreement shall
be construed in accordance with the law of the State of New Hampshire, and is
binding upon"and inures to the benefit of the panics and their rcspccti vc successors
and assignees. The captions and contents of the "subject" blank arc used only as
a matter of convenience, and are not to be considered a pan of this Agreement or
to be used in delemtining the intend of the panics hereto.
THIRD PARTIES. The panics hereto do not intend to benefit any third panies
and this Agreement shall not be construed to confer any such benefit.
ENTIRE AGREEMENT. Jhis Agreement, which may be executed in a number
of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, constitutes the entire
agreement and understanding between the panies. and supersedes all prior
agreements and undcntandings relating hereto.
SPECIAL PROVISIONS. The addiiiynal or modifying provisions set forth in
Exhibit A hereto are incorporated a.s pan of this agreement.
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNTTY SERVICES, INC.

EXHIBITS TO CONTRACT

EXHIBIT A Special Provisions

EXHIBIT B Scope of Services

EXHIBIT C Budget

EXHIBIT D Vehicle List

Certificate of Good Standing

- Gertificate ofGoiporate Vote -

Certificate of Insurance '

FTA Certifications and Assurances

FTA Master Agreement

DDL Special Warranty - Unified Protective Arrangement

2 CFR Part 200

FTA Section 5310

FTA Section 53! I

Social Service Documents to Include:

501 (c)
Financial Report
Board of Directors,

Key Personnel and Salaries
Resumes



Revised 04/18/2023

Southwestern Community Services
EXHIBIT A

SPECIAL PROVISIONS ^

A.l. Amend G-I Section 2. "SCOPE OF WORK" by adding the following;

2.1. The Grantee may change services as described in Exhibit B, Scope of Services (hereinafter the
"Services") only with the prior written agreement of the State and in accordance with applicable
Federal Transit Administration (FTA) requirements.

A.2. Amend G-1 Section 3. "AREA COVERED" by adding the following:

3.1. Services may .extend to adjacent states with prior written approval from the State. The State
reserves the right to require formal cost allocation measures.

A.3. Amend G-1 Section 5. "GRANT AMOUNT: LIMITATION ON AMOUNT: VOUCHERS:
PAYMENT" by adding the following:

5.6. ' As applicable based on Federal'participation ratios, the amount paid by the State to the Grantee
shall' not exceed 50% of allowable operating costs less fare revenues plus 80% of allowable
' administrative and capital costs. Operating, administrative and capital costs are identified in
Exhibit C. The Grantee shall provide and document the availability of local funds sufficient to
meet the project cost in excess of the Grant Price Limitation.

5.7. In the event that revenues exceed the total allowable costs, said revenues in excess of total
allowable costs shall be placed in an interest-bearing account within 30 days of the Completion
Date and made available to the State upon demand.

5.8. The Grantee shall submit a request for payment to the State on a form specified by the State on .a
monthly or quarterly basis, together with all infomation to support the request. Such requests for
payment shall be properly completed and signed. Requests for payments must be for allowable
costs only as defined in 2 CFR Part 200. No requests for advance payment will be accepted by
the State.

5.9. Upon receipt of the request for payment, the Stale shall review the request to determine the
allowability of costs. In connection with this review, the State may demand production of (and
the Grantee shall produce) and inspect any documents and records described in Section 7.

5.10. Within 30 days of receipt of the request for payment and other documents and records required
by the State, the State shall determine the allowability of costs and the amount due and owing to

" the Grantee and shall pay said amount, subject to other provisions of this Agreement.

5.11. Final Payment. The Grantee's provision of all reports required under this Agreement is a
condition precedent to final payment.

A.4. Amend G-1 Section 6.. "COMPLIANCE BY GRANTEE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS" by adding the following:

6.1. The Grantee shall post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for
employment, notices setting forth the provisions of the Federal Title VI non-discrimination
requirements.

\

6.2. The Grantee shall state, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees, that all qualified
"applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard to race, color, age, creed.



Revised 04/18/2023

sex, or nationai origin.

6.3. The provisions of 2 CFR 200 shall apply to local administration of this agreement and any
subgrantee under this agreement.

/

A.5. Amend G-1 Section 12. "TERMINATION" by adding the following: ,

12.5. The Termination Report must be approved by the State and the Federal Transit Administration
(FTA) prior to final payment.

I

12.6. Completion of Services; Payment of Price. Excepting those obligations of the Grantee which, by
the terms of this Agreement, do -not expire on the Completion Date, upon the completion of the .
Services and upon payment of the Grant Price, this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties
hereunder, shall cease and neither party shall have further recourse under the Agreement.

A.6. Amend G-1 Section 9. "DATA; RETENTION OF DATA; ACCESS" by adding the
following:

9.6. The following restrictions apply to all subject data first produced in the performance of this
Agreement: ^

9.6.1 Except for its own internal use, the Grantee may not publish or reproduce such data in
whole or in part, or in any manner or form, nor may the Grantee authorize others to do so,
without the written consent of the State, until such time as the FTA may have either
released or approved the release of such data to the public.

9.6.2 As authorized by 2 CFR 200, the FTA reserves a royalty-free, non-exclusive and
irrevocable license to reproduce, publish and otherwise use, and to authorize others to
use, for Federal purposes, any work developed under a grant, cooperative agreement,
sub-grant, or third party grant, irrespective of whether a copyright has been obtained; and
any rights of copyright to which a recipient, sub-recipient, or third party contractor
purchases ownership with Federal assistance.

9.7. It is the FTA's intent to increase the body of mass transportation knowledge. Therefore, the
Grantee understands and agrees that in addition to the rights set forth in 9.6 (b) above, the FTA
may make available to any recipient, subgrantee, grantee or subgrantee its license in the copyright
to the date derived under this Agreement or a copy of the data first produced under this
Agreement.

I

9.8. The Grantee shall indemnify, save, and hold harmless the State and United States, their officers,
agents, and employees acting within the scope of their official duties against any liability,
including costs and expenses, resulting from any willful or intentional violation of the proprietary
rights, copyrights, or right of privacy, arising out of the publication, translation, reproduction,
delivery, use, or disposition of any data furnished under this Agreement.

9.9. Nothing contained in this clause shall imply a license to the United States under any patent or be
construed as affecting the scope of any license or other right otherwise granted" to the United
States under any patent.

V

9.10. Sections 9.4, 9.5, and 9.6 above are not applicable to material furnished to the Grantee by the
State or United States and incorporated in the work furnished under the agreement; provided that
such incorporated material is identified by the Grantee at the time of delivery of such work.

9.1 1. In the event that the project is not completed for any reason, all data developed under the project
'  -»•

I

(
2
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shall become subject Data as defined in'Section 9.1 and shall be delivered as the State or the FTA
may direct.

A.7. Amend G-1 Section 15. "ASSIGNMENTS/AND/SUBGRANTEES" by adding the following:

15.1 The Grantee shall cause the provisions of this grant to be inserted in all subgrants for any work
covered by this Agreement so that the provisions will be binding on each siibgrantee; provided,
however, that the foregoing provisions shall not apply to subgrantees for standard commercial
supplies or raw materials. The Grantee shall take such action with respect to any subgrant as the
State may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for noncompliance.

^ The Grantee shall ensure that any subgrantee has obtained all licenses,- permits or approvals
required for the performance of grant Services.

A.8. • Amend G-I by adding "DEFINITIONS" as Section 25:

25. DEFINITIONS

~  ~ \ •*

ALLOWABLE COSTS: Costs that are incurred in the performance of the Services which
satisfy the requirements of 2 CFR 200.

L

"FTA: U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration

PROJECT APPLICATION: The narrative, charts, figures and/or maps submitted to the State
detailing the scope of the public transportation prograrn of the Grant as modified and approved
by the State.

REVENUE: Fares from individuals or other direct income for the public transportation services
being provided by the Grantee. Revenues also include funds from subgrants, contracts, purchase
of service agreernents, and excess matching funds that directly benefit the transportation service.

SECTION 5311: Section 531 1 of the Federal Transit Act of 1964, as amended.
/

SECTION 5310: Section 5310 of the Fixing America's Surface Transportation Act (FAST), as
amended.

STATE: The State ofNew Hampshire, acting through the Department of Transportation, Bureau
of Rail and Transit.

A.9. Amend G-1 by adding "ACCOUNTING, BOOKKEEPING AND REPORTING
REQUIREMENTS" as Section 26:

26. ACCOUNTING, BOOKKEEPING AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

26.1. Ledgers. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall establish and maintain ledger sheets for each budget
category. Entries shall be made and shall reflect the financial activities of the Grantee. The ledger
sheet-must be in a form approved by the State. The ledger will indicate the funds remaining in each
line item of the Grant Budget at the beginning of each month. Entries shall be made on a running
basis and carried over to the following month; that is, figures.wi 11 be brought forward cumulatively.
Grantee shall also prepare and submit to the State a profit and loss statement quarterly if such
information is not provided with invoices.

26.2. Accounts Receivable. The Grantee and/or subgrantee shall deposit all revenue in an interest-
bearing account with a banking institution in this State. Grantee shall prepare and maintain receipt
vouchers for all revenue. Immediately upon receipt, Grantee and/or subgrantee shall credit all
revenue to the appropriate receipt account. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall establish and maintain
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an Accounts Receivable Ledger. The receipt number appearing in the Ledger'shall correspond to
the receipt voucher number. A receipt voucher must be.completed on a form approved by the State
and shall identify each component of every deposit. All appropriate supporting documents for each
deposit should be attached to the receipt voucher.

26.3. Payables. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall prepare vouchers to document all expenditures of funds.
The voucher shall include the following information and shall be prepared on a form approved by
the State; The Division and account numbers from which the funds will-be drawn, the date of

expenditure, a voucher number running in sequence, and any appropriate comments supporting the
expenditure of funds (e.g.; invoices and payroll vouchers). All invoices received by the Grantee
shall be checked for accuracy and allowability. Each invoice must be approved for payment by the
Grant Manager or designee. Immediately upon payment. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall make
entries to the appropriate ledger sheets documenting payment. (Each subgrantee shall identify a
Grant Manager).

26.4. Voucher and Receipt Register. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall establish and maintain two
registers that will-contain a running total of all payable receipt vouchers. The registers will provide
a summary of voucher or receipt numbers, amount, and purpose of action. No self-designated
abbreviations are to be used. ^

26.5. Check Register. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall maintain a check register. This register is also
considered a book of original entry and is posted to the ledger immediately.

* ■ » !

26.6. Time Sheet, Taxes, and Benefits. Grantee and/or subgrantee shall require each of its employees •
to 1) submit weekly time reports designating work performed and time spent on.such work, or 2)
be included in an indirect cost allocation plan approved by the cognizant Federal agency. The
Grantee shall summarize time reports by task and apply employee's- rates of pay- to the hours
worked. The Grant Manager shall review completed and signed time reports and cause them to be
posted to the appropriate category in the general ledger. The Grantee shall maintain records of
employee payroll and benefits and shall post this information to the appropriate category in the
general ledger. The Grant Manager shall ensure that all payments are on a timely basis.

26.7. Reimbursements. On a monthly basis, the Grantee shall submit a description of Grant activities,
in a format as required by the State. Should the Grantee show a profit for any month, the Grantee
shall apply the amount of profit against subsequent reimbursement requests. The Grantee shall
agree to provide information in addition to the monthly narrative at such times arid'in such manner
as the State may require, and to prepare any reports which may be requested by the State including
but not limited to a final or termination report if operations cease.

26.8. Maintenance of Records. The Grantee shall keep and maintain the records, documents, and
accounts described herein for a period of three years after the FTA grant is closed. The Grantee
shall maintain, and make available to the State and the FTA, records relating to complaints and
comments received from the public. In the event the State disputes the Grantee's operations or
records as submitted for payment or other\vise, final resolution shall rest with the State.

26.9. Audits and Inspections. Between the Effective Date and the Completion Date,-and for a period of
three (3) years af^er the FJA grant is closed or the date of resolution of all matters relating to this
Agreement, whichever is later, at any time during the Grantee's normal business hours, and as often
as the State or the FTA may demand, the Grantee shall make available to the State and the FTA or
their designees all records pertaining to matters covered by this Agreement. The Grantee shall
permit the State and the FTA to audit, examine, and reproduce such records, and to make audits of
all contracts, grants, invoices, materials, payrolls, records of personnel. Data (as defined in G-1
section 9.1) and other information relating to all matters covered by this Agreement. As used in
this paragraph, "Grantee" includes all-persons, natural or fictional, affiliated with, controlled by, or
under common ownership with, the entity identified as the Grantee in 1.3 of G-1.
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26.10. Independent Audit. The Grantee shall submit one audit done by one Certified Public Accountant
(CPA) for the entire project, or, as the State may require, for any part of the project upon demand.
Monies required for payment of the audit shall be set aside in the Grant Budget for that specific
purpose. '

26.10.1 In the event the audit reveals that monies are due and owing to the State from the
Grantee, for whatever reasons, the Grantee shall pay to the State such sums within thirty
(30) days of the audit date. ^

26.1 1. The Grantee shall submit quarterly performance, drug and alcohol, and charter activity reports
within 30 days^cf the end of each quarter and shall submit any forms, information or reports
required by the State to complete the FTA's National Transit Database (NTD) reporting.

26.12. General Transit Feed Specification (GTFS). The Grantee shall generate and keep updated General
Transit Feed Specification (GTFS) data and submit related data for reporting to the National Transit
Database (NTD) as required. The Grantee shall submit related data to the State upon request;

A.IO. Amend G-1 by adding "PROJECT EQUIPMENT AND REAL PROPERTY" as Section 27:

27. PROJECT EQUIPMENT AND REAL PROPERTY. The following terms and conditions
apply to all equipment and real property purchased in whole or in'part with funds provided
through this or other Agreements between the State and the Grantee:

27.1. All procurements shall be made in accordance with 2 CFR 200 and FTA Circular 4220.IF and
future amendments, and with Buy America requirements, 49 CFR Parts 661 and 663.

27.2. All vehicles shall be purchased by the State unless the Grantee has received prior approval from
the State to procure vehicles.

27.3; All other equipment with a cost in excess of five Hundred ($500) per unit shall be purchased by
the Grantee subject to the prior approval of the State.

27.4. Title to all project equipment funded or otherwise provided by the Grantee shall be in the name
of the Grantee; provided, however, that the Grantee shall give the State a security interest in all
such equipment at the time of purchase and shall execute financing statements and do all other
acts necessary or useful to the perfection of that interest and the renewal thereof. In connection
with the purchase of any motor vehicles pursuant to this Agreement, the Grantee shall give the
State a security interest in the motor vehicles at the time of purchase and shall take all steps
necessaiy to protect the Stale's security interest, including taking steps to identify the State as a
lien holder of such motor vehicles on the motor vehicle titles.

27.5. In the event that this Agreement is terminated, all project equipment and property become the
property of the State and it is understood and agreed that legal title to such equipment shall be
transferred to the State as soon as feasible. Project equipment-will be disposed of in accordance
with FTA Circular 9040.1G and the State Management Plan unless written approval is received
from the State.

A.I 1. Amend G-1 by adding "EQUIPMENT CERTIFICATION" as section 28:

28. EQUIPMENT CERTIFICATION. The Grantee shall maintain a current inventory listing of
all Project Equipment and Real Property involved in this Agreement. The Grantee shall submit
to the State a certification that the Project Equipment and Real Property as referenced in Section
27, is still being used in accordance with the terms of the Agreement. The^inventory listing and
equipment certification shall be supplied to the State on an annual basis beginning June 30, 2024
[year]. ^
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A.12. Amend G-1 by adding "EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE" as section 29:

29. EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE. The Grantee shall be responsible for the maintenance
and repair of all equipment used in the Services described in Exhibit D. The Grantee shall
maintain ail such equipment at a high level of cleanliness, safety, and mechanical soundness. The
Grantee shall certify that a proper maintenance plan that meets or exceeds the original equipment
manufacturer's preventive maintenance guidelines is followed. Vehicle maintenance plans must
be approved by the Grantee's Board of Directors. All maintenance, repair and physical
improvement activities on equipment shall be conducted by the Grantee and at a location
specified by the Grantee. The Grantee shall notify the State of any changes in this location. The
Grantee further agrees to maintain, repair, or make any physical improvement to equipment as
requested by the State. The State, the FTA, and/or their designees shall have the right to conduct
periodic inspections for the purpose of confirming proper maintenance and repair.

A.13. Amend G-1 by adding "REPAIR RECORDS AND RI^OR'^" as section 30:

30. REPAIR RECORDS AND REPORTS. The Grantee shall maintain a complete and up to date
record of all motor vehicle repairs and shall make such records available to the State and the FTA
upon demand.

A.14. Amend G-1 by adding "VEHICLE STORAGE" as section 31:

31. VEHICLE STORAGE As applicable, with respect to any motor vehicles purchased in whole or
part under this Agreement, or maintained under this Agreement, the Grantee shall park or garage
each vehicle so as to ensure maximum available protection and safety for each vehicle. The
Grantee shall also ensure that each vehicle will be parked or garaged in such a manner that its
daily operations are not impaired or curtailed by-conditions of weather'or-any other
circumstances. The Grantee shall notify the State of the location of the parking or garaging site
and any relocation.

A.15. Amend G-I by adding "TRAINING AND DRIVER REVIEW" as section 32:

32; TRAINING AND DRIVER REVIEW. The State may require participation in training courses
determined to be essential to FTA program management in this grant period and'may require
participation in such training programs as it deems necessary by drivers and other employees
involved in the transportation of the public. Training mfy include defensive driving, passenger
assistance, emergency procedures and periodic refresher training every three (3) years. The
Grantee agrees that the State shall have the right to review the performance of all drivers who are
employed in connection with this Agreement, and to disallow the use of any driver whose
performance as a driver is determined to be unsatisfactory by the State.

A.16. Amend G-1 by adding "SAFETY REQUIREMENTS" as section 33:

33. SAFETY REQUIREMENTS. As applicable, all project equipment shall be inspected and
certified by the Department of Safety and shall meet all applicable Federal Motor Vehicle Safety
Standards and Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations as required by the United States
Department of Transportation, and by the New Hampshire Department of Safety under RSA
266:72-a, in the purchase and operation of all project equipment.

33.1. As applicable, the Grantee shall provide the Slate with .full, and prompt written notification
of any accident involving any vehicle used in its Services. In addition, the Grantee shall be
responsible to report any accident in compliance with State law.

33.2. The Grantee shall submit to the State by February 15 of each year a report covering the
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previous year (January 1 through December 31), summarizing the reisults of its alcohol
misuse prevention and anti-drug programs on FTA approved forms. This shall be in
compliance with 49 CFR Part 655.

33.3. The Grantee shall submit any data/documentation related to FTA's Transit .Asset
Management or Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan purposes as required by
NHDOT for compliance purposes.

A.I7. Amend G-I by adding "SERVICE LIMITATIONS" as section 34;

34. SERVICE LIMITATIONS. The Grantee shall not engage in the provision Services other than
those'described in Exhibit B, or outside the service area described in Exhibit B, without the
written consent of the State and, as applicable, without obtaining the appropriate operating
authority. The Grantee shall not engage in charter or school bus operations except as permitted
by 49 CFR Parts 604 and 605, respectively.

A.18. Amend G-1 by adding "GRANTEE REPRESENTATIONS" as section 35:

35. , GRANTEE REPRESENTATIONS. The Grantee warrants that with respect to the Services to
be pcrfomicd, it has obtained all licenses, permits, or approvals which are required by any law,
order or regulation of any authority, state or federal, or which may be necessary for the
performance of the Services hereunder. The Grantee warrants that all personnel engaged in the

■ Services shall be qualified to perform such Services and shall be properly licensed and authorized
to perform such Services under all applicable laws.

A.I9. Amend G-I by adding "LABOR PROVISIONS" as section 36:

36. L'ABOR'PROVISIONS. The Grantee agrees to adhere to the terms and conditions of the Unified
Protective Arrangement, Section 5333(b) of 49 USC 53 of as amended, incorporated herein for
the protection of the employees of any employer providing transportation services assisted by
this Agreement, and the employees of any other surface transportation providers in the
transportation service area identified in Exhibit B.

A.20. Amend G-I by adding "PATENT RIGHTS" as section 37:

37. PATENT RIGHTS. If any inventjon, improvement, or discovery of the Grantee is conceived or
first actually reduced to practice in the course of or under this grant, which invention,
improvement or discovery may be patentable under the laws.of the United States or any foreign
country, the Grantee shall immediately notify the State and provide a detailed report. The rights
and responsibilities of the Grantee and the State with respect to such invention, improvement, or
discovery will be determined in accordance with applicable Federal laws, regulations, policies,
and any waiver thereof.

A.21. Amend G-I by adding "BROKERAGE REPRESENTATION" as section 38:

38. BROKERAGE REPRESENTATION. The Grantee warrants that'it has not employed or
retained any company or person, other than a bona-flde employee working solely for the Grantee,
to solicit or secure this Agreement; and that it has not paid or agreed to pay any company or
person, other than a bona-fide employee working solely for the Grantee, any fee, commission,
■percentage, brokerage fee, gifts or any other consideration, contingent upon or resulting from the
award or making of this Agreement. For breach or violation of this warranty, the State shall have
the right to annul this Agreement without liability or, in its discretion to deduct from the
Agreement price or consideration, or otherwise recover,'the full amount of such fee, commission,
percentage, brokerage, brokerage fee, gift, or contingent fee.



SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES, INC.

EXHIBIT B

SCOPE OF SERVICES '

1. The Grantee, Southwestern Community Services, Inc., (hereinafter the "Grantee") shall
provide the following public transportation services:

'  - N

a. Fixed route, demand-responsive, and/or route deviation public transit services in
Sullivan County as detailed in the "Project Description" of the Grantee's
application to the New Hampshire Department of Transportation, Bureau of Rail
and Transit (hereinafter "the State") for Section 531 1 funding. The Grantee's
application is hereby incorporated by reference and made part of this agreement.

/

b. Serve as the lead agency for Region 4 Sullivan for FTA Section 5310 RCC funds
to provide accessible transportation services to seniors and individuals with
disabilities in cooperation with the Region'4 Sullivan RCC: The Grantee's 5310
RCC grant application is hereby incorporated by reference and made part of this
agreement. The Grantee agrees to provide all services indicated in the grant

■ application unless modified per this Grant.

2. The following terms and conditions apply to all of the FTA Section 531 l-funded public
transit services provided by Grantee pursuant to this agreement:

a. The State may require the Granteelo provide additional transportation services or
to reducejranspojtation services prpyid^^d^^his^Grant.j\ny^al^^tions to^^
such transportation services shall be submitted in writing by the State to the
Grantee. The Grantee shall implement the alterations within,thirty (30) days
unless a'different timeffame is agreed to by the State and the Grantee.

b. The Grantee may request to revise transportation services, as submitted in the
Grantee's grant application to the State, to add, reduce, or adjust transportation
services provided under this Grant. Any alterations to such transportation
services, including alterations for the provision of service to special events, shall
be requested in writing by the Grantee to the State for approval at least 30 days in
advance. Revisions subject'to a public comrnent period shall be requested at least
60 days in advance. Upon approval of the State, the Grantee shall implement any
alterations within thirty (30) days unless a different tirneframe is agreed to by the
State and the Grantee.

c. The Grantee shall not change, add, or delete any route or make any fare, service,
or operating schedule adjustments without the prior written agreement of the
State, except in an emergency situation. In such an emergency, the Grantee shall
notify the State no later than the next working day following the day of such
changes. Such emergency changes will be valid for a maximum of five days;
thereafter, the written approval of the State shall be required to continue such
emergency changes.

d. All project vehicles, including those Federally funded vehicles outlined in Exhibit
D, Project Equipment, as identified by their Vehicle Identification Numbers, as



well as any additional vehicles utilized for the project, shall be used in accordance
with all applicable Federal and State laws as well as State requirements.

3. The following terms and conditions apply to all oftheFTA Section 5310-funded services
for seniors and individuals with disabilities provided by Grantee pursuant to this
agreement:

a. The State may require the Grantee to provide additional transportation services or
to reduce transportation services provided under this grant. Any alterations to
such transportation services shall be submitted in writing by the State to the
Grantee. The Grantee shall implement the alterations within thii-ty (30) days

unless a different timeframe is agreed to by the State and the Grantee.

b. Mobility management activities, and as applicable, transportation services, •
subgrantees, and maximum reimbursement rates, shall consist of those submitted
in the Grantee's 5310 Regional Coordinating Council (RCC) application or as
subsequently modified by the State through written notification to the Grantee.
Further amendments to mobility management activities, transportation services,
subgrantees, and/or maximum reimbursement rates require RCC approval, as
documented in official minutes, as well as written approval from the State.

c. Eligible Regional Mobility Manager expenses shall be limited to those directly '
related to the position's role as described within the 2016 "New Hampshire
Statewide Coordination of Community Transportation Services Pjap" and/or
within the most recent "New Hampshire Statewide Mobility Manager Network: A
Blueprint for Implementation", both hereby incorporated by reference. Roles may,
be further modified based on those recommended by the Statewide Coordinating
Council (SCC) and approved in writing by the State. " ■
s

d. All services provided shall conform to FTA Section 5310 guidelines. Per FTA
'  requirements, the Grantee shall be responsible for oversight of subgrantees and

contractors relative to FTA requirements.

e. The Grantee shall ensure the provision of ADA-accessible services within the
RCC region. Any marketing materials, brochures, and other service infoimation
shall.describe it as ADA-accessible. Tt is acceptable for a subgrantee/lower tier
subrecipient that does not utilize accessible vehicles to contract with an accessible
provider in order to meet this requirement.

f. The Grantee must fulfill its contractual obligations and provide its scope of
■services throughout the Grant period regardless of expenses exceeding the
maximum allowed to be reimbursed. As necessary, the Grantee shall establish trip
priorities to ensure funds are not expended prematurely.

g. The State may require the Grantee to provide additional transportation services or
to reduce transportation services provided under this Grant. Any alterations to
such transportation services-shall be submitted in writing by the State to the
Grantee. The Grantee shall implement the alterations within thirty (30) days
unless another timeframe is agreed to by the State and the Grantee.



SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES

EXHIBIT B

BUDGET

«

The Grant price, as defined in Section 1.8 of the General Provisions, are the respective FTA Section
5311 and Section 5310 RCC portions of the eligible project costs. Federal funds are granted as
follows:

Section 5311 SFY 2024 SFY 2025

Administration $178,000 $178,000

Capital Preventive Maintenance $28,000 . $28,000

Capital ADA $00 $00 -

Operating $208,000 j  $208,'000

Total Section 5311 $414,000 $414,000

Two-year FTA 5311 Totals $828,000

,

Section 5310 RCC SFY 2024 SFY 2025

Contracted Services $50,000 ' 1 $50,000

Mobility Management $31,340 $31,340

Regional Mobility Management $70,760 . $70,760

Total 5310 RCC Funding $152,100 $152,100

Two-^year FTA 5310 RCC Totals $304,200

•

Total FTA Federal Funds $566,100 $566,100
«i- '

Total Two-Year Grant Funds Requested $1,132,2001 TT v 1 yqi \JI | m , ■

a. Funds are contingent upon Federal and State appropriations.

n. Not less than fourteen days prior to the submission of the Grantee's first request for FTA Section
5311 reimbursement, the Grantee shall submit to the State a budget incorporating all funds to be
expended in the provision of services pursuant to this Grant. Budget revisions may be made with
written approval of the State.

III. The Grantee may seek reimbursement for these funds by submitting a monthly or quarterly invoice
for the total eligible expenses less agency match as applicable to the Department. The invoice must
include verification of source(s) of matching funds and statements from service providers, as
applicable, to support the request for matching funds. '

/

IV. Mobility management costs shall be itemized and include such information as required to support
the request. ■

V. The Grantee will verify that trip reimbursement is for non-Medicaid-eligible trips only,

VI. For expenses other than contracted services, the Grantee may seek reimbursement only for eligible
expenses listed in the budget and detail-of-cost form provided by the State, with the exception of

■ funds specifically reserved, if any, and identified in "Specifically Programmed Funds," at the end of
this Exhibit.

VII. At the sole discretion of the State, the Grantee, may carry forward any unexpended portion of^the
federal funds included in the Grant Price to a subsequent contract, if any, between the State and the
Grantee.



SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES, INC.
EXHIBIT D

VEHICLE LIST

Transit Vehicles: 7

2016 (Model Yr. 2017) Ford E450 10&2 Passenger Bus 1FDEE3FS2HDC01149

2016 Ford E350 8 & 2 Passenger Bus #1723 IFDEE3FSXGDC57859

2017 #450 Ford 12 & 2 Passenger 1FDFE4FS4HDC49297

2018 Ford E-450 1FDFE4FS9KDC07327

20I9FordE450SD I2&2 1FDFE4FS2KDC71435

2021 Ford E450 I4&2 1FDFE4FNOMDC14275

2021 Ford E-450 14&2 IFDFE4FN9MDC18373



State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I, David M. Scanlan, Secretary of Slate of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY

SERVICES, INC. is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on May 19, 1965.

I further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of Slate's office have been received and is in good standing

as far as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 65514

Certificate Number: 0006194063

y
Aa.

o

%

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,
-•ft

this 3rd day of April A.D. 2023.

David M. Scanlan

Secretary of State



CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY

I, Kevin Watterson ^ hereby certify that:
(Name of the elected Officer of the Corporation/LLC; cahnot be contract signatory)

1  ■ ■ ■ ^
1. I am a duly elected Clerk/Secretary/Officer of Southwestern Community Services Inc. .

(Corporation/LLC Name)

2. The following is a true copy of a vote taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors/shareholders, duly called and
held on June 18 . 2021 at which a quorum of the Directors/shareholders were present and voting.

(Date)

VOTED: That Beth Daniefs. CEO ^ (may list more than one person)
(Name and Title of Contract Signatory)

is duly authorized on behalf of Southwestern Community Services Inc. to enter into contracts or agreements with
"(Narhe'df Cor'^dfation/LLC) - -

the State of New Hampshire and any of its agencies or departments and further is authorized to execute any and all
documents, agreements and other instruments, and any amendments, revisions, or modifications thereto, which
may in his/her judgment be desirable or necessary to effect the purpose of this vote;

3. I hereby certify that said vote has not been amended or repealed and remains in full force and effect as of the
date of the contract/contract amendment to which this certificate is attached. This authority remains valid for
thirty (30) days from the date of this Certificate of Authority. I further certify that it is understood that the State of
New Hampshire will rely on this certificate as evidence that the person(s) listed above currently occupy the
position(s) indicated and that they have full authority to bind the corporation. To the extent that there are any
limits.qn ,the authority otany.JistedJndividual,to,bind the corporation in.qontracts with^h"!^ State ot^New Han:ipshire..
all such limitations are expressly stated herein.

Oale<)-.±L2JL23.
Sic

Nc

nature of Elected Officer

me: Kevin Watterson

Title: Chairman of the Board

Rev. 03/24/20



/\c:oRCf CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DOrrVYY)

07/08/2022

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER. AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(les) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.

If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and'condltlons of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on

PRODUCER

Clark Mortenson Insurance

PC Box 606

Keene NH 03431

contact Ana O'Donnell. CPiW, CIC

MoFstv (603)352-2121 (All NO): (603)357-8491
aooHess- aodonnell@hilbgroup.com

INSURER(S) AFFOROINO COVERAGE NAIC*

INSURER A
Philadelphia Indemnity Insurance Co. ^  18058

INSURED

Soulhweslem Community Services Inc.

63 Community Way

PO Box 603

Keene ' NH 03431

INSURER B
Maine Employers Mut Ins Co 11149

insurer'c

INSURER 0

INSURER E

INSURER F

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: 2022 lo 2023 REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN.ISSUED.TO THE.INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD

INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING /WY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS

CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS.
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POllCIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

NSR
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE

ADDL

INSD

SDBR

WVO POLICY NUMBER
POLICY EPF
tMM/DDfYYYY)

POLICY EXP
(MM/DD/YYYYl LIMITS

COMMERCIAL GENERAL UABIUTY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMASklOKkNILb
PREMISES (Ea occufrenc«)

PHPK2431763 06/30/2022 06/30/2023

MED EXP (Any one [)ef»on)

PERSONAL & AOV INJURY

GEN\ AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

X POLICY □ □
GENERAL AGGREGATE

OTHER:

PRODUCTS • COMP/OP AGG

1.000.000

100.000

5.000

1.000.000

2.000.000

2.000.000

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

ANY AUTOX

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
fEa accid«ntl - •

,1.000.000

BODILY INJURY (Per perMn)

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY
HIRED.
AUTOS ONLY

SCHEDULED
AUTOS
NON-OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

PHPK2431766 06/30/2022 06/30/2023 BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(PeracddenU

X UMBRELLA UAB

EXCESS LIAB

DED X

X OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

EACH OCCURRENCE 2,000.000

PHUB820879 06/30/2022 06/30/2023 AGGREGATE 2.000,000

RETENTION S 10,000

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITV

ANY PROPRlETOR4»ARTNER/EXECUT1VE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandetory in NH)
II yes. describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

X STATUTE
OTH
ER

3102800768 04/01/2022 04/01/2023 E.L EACH ACCIDENT 500,000

E.L. DISEASE • EA EMPLOYEE 500.000

E.L- DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT
500.000

PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY
PHPK2431763 06/30/2022 06/30/2023

EACH OCCURRENCE

AGGREGATE

$1,000,000

$2,000,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101. Additional Remarks Schedule, may be atUched If more space Is required)

3aSiaie:NH
All ofUcers included for coverage

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

t

!  )

NH Department of Transportation Bureau of Rail & Tr

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF. NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

PO Box 483
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE >

Concord NH 03302
1 'yvt,

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD



/XCORD CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

04/04/2023

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S). AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(les) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed,
r  3R0GATI0N IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
ti.— certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder In lieu of such endorsement(s).

>ROOUCER

1 he Hiio Group New bngiand, LLC

PC Box 606

Keene . NH 03431

contact Ana O'Donnell. CPIW, CIC

PIIOHC
(A/C. No. e*t1: (A/C.No):

AnoREss- aodonnell@hilbgroup.com

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC*

INSURER A • Fhiladetphia Indemnity Insurance Co 18058

NSURED

Southwestern Comm Services Inc

63 Community Way

PO Box 603

■ Keene NH 03431

INSURER B • Granite Slate Healthcare & Human Senrices Trust

INSURER C :

INSURER 0 ;

INSURER E : .

INSURER F :

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: 22/23 w/WCO REVISION NUMBER:.

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FORJHE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. -NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS.
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

POUCY EPF
(MM/DD/YYYYlTYPE OF INSURANCE

JBCQ
INSD

BUHIt
WVO POLICY NUMBER

POUCY EXP
(MM/DDPrrro LIMITS

>4SR
.TR

X

X

COMMERCIAL GENERAL UABIUTY

CLAIMSJktAOE OCCUR

EACH OCCURRENCE

■DAMAGE TO RENTED " ~
PREMISES (Eti occurrence)

PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY MED EXP (Any one p«f«on)

PHPK2431763 06/30/2022 06/30/2023 PERSONAL A ADV INJURY

GEN^ AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

X POLICY □ □
GENERAL AGGREGATE

OTHER:

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

PROFESSION/U.

AUTOMOBILE UABIUIY.. .

ANY AUTOX

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
(Ea scodentl • -

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

OWNED
AUTOS ONLY
HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

SCHEDULED
AUTOS
NON-OWNED
AUTOS ONLY

PHPK2431766 06/30/2022 06/30/2023 BOOILY INJURY (Per accident)

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per acddenl)

1,000,000

100.000

5,000

1,000.000

2,000,000

2,000,000

1M/2M

_1,000,000

X UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS UAB

X OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

EACH OCCURRENCE 2,000,000

PHUB820879 06/30/2022 06/30/2023 AGGREGATE
2,000,000

DEO X RETENTION S ^0-000
WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED? '
(Mandatory in NH)
If yes, des^be under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

XP6«
STATUTE

OTVL
ER

s HCHS20232000036 04/01/2023 04/01/2024 E.L. EACH ACCIDENT
500,000

E.L. DISEASE ■ EA EMPLOYEE 500.000

E.L. DISEASE - POUCY LIMIT
500,000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS (LOCATIONS'VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be anached if more space Is required)

3a Stale: NH. All officers included. This certificate is issued as a matter of information only and confers no rights upon the certificate holder. This certificate
does not amend, extend or alter the coverage afforded by the policies referenced herein.
Department of Transportation is included as additional insured with respect to the Sullivan County Transportation program.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

SHOULD ANY OFTHE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN

Slate of NH Department of Transportation-

John p Morton Building

PO Box 483

Concord
1

ACCORDANCE WITH THE POUCY PROVISIONS.

NH 03302

AUTHORIZEO REPRESENTATIVE ' "

IS 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. Ail rights reserved.

ACORD 25 (2016/03) The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD



CcrlillcLUions and Assurances Fiscal Year 2023

FEDKKAL FISCAL YEAR 2023 CEU I IFICATIONS AM.) ASSURANCKS FOR FTA

ASSTSTANCF. PROGRAMS
V

(Stgnaiure pages alternaic ((.i providing Ccnitjcations and Assurances in TrAMS.)

Name of Applicant;

The Applicant certifies to ihe'applicable provisions of ail categories: [check iicrc) ^ .

Oi\

The Applicant certitles lo the applicable provisions of the categories it luis selected:

Category

01 Certifications and Assurances Required of Every Applicant

y

02 Public Transportaiion Agency Safety Plans

03 Tax Liability and Felony ConviciiorLS

Certification

04 I -ohbving

05 ri ivaie Sector l'roicciion.s

06 Transit Asset Manaiicmcnt Plan

07 Roiling Slock Buy America Reviews and Bus Testing

08 Urbanized Area Fonnula Giants Program

09 . Fonnula Grants for Rural Areas

10 Fi.xed Guidcway Capital Investment Grants and the Expedited'
Project Delivery for Capital Invesimem Grants Pilot Program

1 i Grants for Buses and Bus Facilities and Low or No Emission

Vehicle Deployment Grant Programs



Geniriciiiions and Assurniices - Fiscal Ycai" 2023

1

12 Enhanced Mobility of Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities
Prom'ams

13 State of Good Repair Grants

14 Infrastructure Finance Programs

15 Alcohol and Controlled Substances Testing

16 Rail Safety Training and Os crsighi

17 Demand Responsive.Service

18 Interest and Financing Costs

19 Cybersecuriiy Ccrtincaiion for Rail Rolling Stock and
Operations

20 Tribal Transit Programs

21 Emergency Relief Progratn

CERTIinCATlONS AM> ASSURANCES Stt.NATLKF. PACK

AKHRMATiON OF AFFIJCANT.

N'ainc ut'ilic Appticani; S.ou^bujesieip_C:)amuD/lijjSk/J/iI^sJ.O.C—
liY SIGNING INFLOW, on bcUalf oftbc Applicani, t declare ihai it has duly authorized inc to make these

Ccriifiratinns and A.ssuraiicc.s and bind its compliance, Thu.'i, it agrees to comply with .'ill federal lau-s. regtilaiions.

ami ivquircmeiit.s, ibllox^' applicable ledcr.il guidance, and cumpty with ilio Ceiiillcaiioii.s auil Assnniiices as
iiidictncd $)ii the lofcgomg page ap[)licul)le lu eacti applicutioti ii.s Authonx.ed Reprc.scuiative mtikes to ilic l-'cdcral
Traiisit .Admitiisivaiimi (t^"!'.^) in the fcdeml liscal year, irrespective of whethei' the individual that acieil on hi.s or
iiiir Applicant's bcludfcotitinucs i<> rcpie.Sv-tnr it.

71k-. Cerlific.nions and Assuratiee.s the .Applicant sclccW apply to each Award for which it now seeks, or m.iy

later .«teek lirdcrai assi.stance to be uwardt-ti by I-'TA during the federal tiscal yciu'.

The .Applicant affimis the truthiuiitcss an»l aeciiracy of the CenificaiiiMis and .As.surance.s it ha.s .selected in the

statcmcm.s .submiuctJ with ifiis (tocuincin and any oiJicr suhiriis.sion made to l^C.A, and acknowlcdpes that the
fTograrii Fraud Civil Kcinedics .Act of iy>l^. el U.S.C. s 3X01 rfsct/., and iinplcihciuiiig U.S. ULJT regulHiioni;.
■■prcigrani Fraud Civil Remedies." CFK pan .31. apply to iinv ccnincatioii, a.s.surancc or .submission tr.adc to
l"l'.-\. 'The criminal provisions of IS U.S.C. ^ [('01 apply to any ccriiliciuion. a.ssurancc. oi'siibmts.sion in;t{ic in
coniicccion with a federal public Iransporialirui prognim authorized bj- 4*) ti.S.C. cliaplcr 53 or any i.ulici .staluie



Ccriincalions and Assiuanccii , I'iscal Year 2023

hi this ckKninicut, 1 ciccliifc tinact pciialiics of pcrjiirv- ihal ilic foa-goini^ Ceriiiicaiions :md Assiirancos. ntul
any other scatctncnis made by nic on bctiall'of die Applicant are irue and acciiniic.

■  Date:

Nw Da.nl e(5 Autliorized Rcprcseniaiive ofApplicaiii
"  »



FFY 2022 MASTER AGREEMENT

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECEIPT

The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Federal Fiscal Year 2022 Master Agreement
requires recipients and subrecipients to comply with the requirements contained in the
agreement in order to receive Federal funds. The language contained in the Master
Agreementmust be incorporated into the administration of the agreement my agepcy has
with the New Hampshire Department of Transportation (NHDOT).

I acknowledge receipt of the FFY 2022 Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Master
Agreement and understand this agreement is referred to in my agency's agreement with
NHDOT by reference. The Master Agreement remains in force for the term of the
agreement.

HJm.
Name of Agency: ' '

f\dhDnni/ls /£0
Name of Authorized Official Signature

•  y



U.S. oEt'ARTMr,'<ror i abor

Office of Labor-Management Standards

Special Warranty Arrangement

For Application to Other Than Urbanized and Over-the-Road Bus Accessibility

Projects

PURSUANTTO SECTION 5333(b) OF '

TITLE 49 OF THE U.S. CODE, CHAPTER 53
1

'  Januarys, 2011

The following language shall be made part of the contract of assistance by reference in the Federal Transit Administration's Master

Agreement as signed by the grantee:
1

The terms and conditions set forth below shall apply for the protection of the transportation-related employees in the

transportation service area of the Project. As a precondition of the release of assistance by the Grantee/State Agency to any

Recipient under the grant, the Grantee shall bind the Recipient to these obligations by incorporating this arrangement into the

contract of assistance between the Grantee and the R^ipient(s), by reference. If a Grantee fails to comply with the terms of the
Warranty and fails to bind a Recipient as a precondition to the release of funds, the Grantee will be a guarantor of the required

protections and the Grantee will be required to act as if it were the Recipient of funds unless and until the Grantee is able to secure

the retroactive agreernent of the Recipient to be bound by the terms of the Warranty.

These protective arrangements arc intended for the benefit of transit employees in the service area of the project, who arc

considered as third-party beneficiaries to the employee protective arrangements incorporated by referenced in the grant contract

between the U.S. Department of Transportation and the Grantee, and the parties to the contract so signify by executing that

contract. Transit employees are also third party beneficiaries to the protective arrangements incorporated in subsequent contracts

of assistance between the Grantee and any Recipient.- Employees, or their-representative,-may assert claims with respect to the—^

protective arrangements under this provision. This clause creates no independent cause of action against the United States

Government.

The term "service area," as used herein, includes the geographic area over which the Project is operated and the area whose •

pnpiii.ntinn issnrvrd by thn Prnjnct, inrliidinc,ndj.nr.fintaro.nr. .affected by the Project. The term "Union," ac used herein, ch.ill refer to

any labor organization representing employees providing public transportation services in the service area of a Project assisted

under the grant. The term "employee," as used herein, shall include individuals who may or may not be represented by a Union.

The term "Recipient," as used herein, shall refer to any employer(s) receiving transportation assistance under the grant. The term

"Grantee," as used herein, shall refer to the applicant for assistance; a Grantee which receives assistance is also a Recipient.

Where the Department of Labor (the Department) deems it necessary to modify the requirements of this Special Warranty

Arrangement so that a particular Grantee or Recipient can continue to satisfy the requirements of the statute, the Department will

issue a supplementary certification letter setting forth the alternative provisions to be included in the contract of assistance

between the Grantee and FTA, by reference. These terms will be made binding upon the particular Grantee or Recipient, along with

these terms and conditions, for each subsequent grant of assistance until withdrawn in writing by the Department.

(1) The Project shall be carried out in such a manner and upon such terms and conditions as will not adversely affect employees of

the Recipient and of any other surface public transportation provider in the transportation service area.pf the Project. It shall bean

obligation of the Recipient to assure that any and all transportation services assisted by the Project are contracted for and operated

in such a manner that they do not impair the rights and interests of affected employees. The term "Project," as used herein, shall

not be limited to the.particular facility, service, or operation assisted by Federal funds, but shall include any changes, whether

^organizational, operational, technological] or otherwise, which are a result of the assistance provided. The phrase "as a result of the
Project," shall, when used in this arrangement, include events related to the Project occurring in anticipation of, during, and

subsequent to the Project and any program of efficiencies or economies related thereto; provided, however, that volume rises and

falls of business, or changes in volume and character of employment brought about solely by causes other than the Project

(including any economies or efficiencies unrelated to the Project) are not within the purview of this arrangement.

An employee covered by this arrangement', who is not dismissed, displaced or otherwise'worsened in his/her position with regard
to employment as a result of the Project, but who is dismissed, displaced or otherwise worsened solely because of the total or

partial termination of the Project or exhaustion of Project funding shall not be deerned eligible for a dismissal or displacement

allowance within the meaning of paragraphs (6) and (7) of this arrangement.



(2) Where employees of a Recipient are represented for collective bargaining purposes, all Project services provided by that
Recipient shall be provided under and In accordance with any collective bargaining agreement applicable to such employees which
is then in effect. This Arrangement does not create any collective bargaining relationship where one does not already exist or
between any Redpient and the employees of another eniployer. Where the Recipient has no collective bargaining relationship with
the Unions representing employees in the service area, the Recipient will not take any action which impairs or interferes with the
rights, privileges, and benefits and/or the preservation or continuation of the collective bargaining rights of such employees.

(3) All rights, privileges, and benefits (including pension rights and benefits) of employees covered by this arrangement (including
employees having already retired) under existing collective bargaining agreements or otherwise, or under any revision or renewal
thereof, shall be preserved and continued; provided, however, that such rights, privileges and benefits which are not foreclosed
from further bargaining under applicable law or contract may be modiHed by collective bargaining and agreement by the Recipient
and the Union involved to substitute other rights, privileges and benefits. Unless otherwise provided, nothing in,this arrangement
shall be deemed to restrict any rights the Recipient may otherwise have to direct the working forces and manage its business as it
deemed best, in accordance with the applicable collective bargaining agreement.

(4) The collective bargaining rights of employees covered by this arrangement, including the right to arbitrate labor disputes and to
maintain union security and checkoff arrangements, as provided by applicable laws, policies and/or existing collective bargaining
agreements, shall be preserved and continued. Provided, however, that this provision shall not be interpreted so as to repuire the
Recipient to retain any such rights which exist by virtue of a.collective bargaining agreement after such agreernent Is no longer in
effect.

The Recipient agrees that it will bargain collectively with the Union or otherwise arrange for the continuation of collective
bargaining, and that it will enter into agreements with the Union or arrange for such agreements to be entered into,"relative to all
subjects which are or may be proper subjects of collective bargaining. If. at any time, applicable law or contracts permit or grant to
employees covered by this arrangement the right to utilize any economic measures, nothing in this arrangement shall be deemed
to foreclose the exercise of such right.

(5)(a) The Recipient shall provide to all affected employees sixty (60) days' notice of intended actions which may result in
displacements or dismissals or rearrangements of the working forces as a result of the Project. In the case of employees
represented by a Union, such notice shall be provided by certified mail through their representatives. The notice shall contain a full
and adequate'statement'of the proposed changes.-and an estimate of the numberofemployKs affecled bylhe intended changesr--
and the number and classifications of any jobs within the jurisdiction and control of the Recipient, including those in the
pmployment of any entity bound by this arrangement pursuant to paragraph (21), available to be filled by sulI. affected employees.

(5){b) The procedures of this subparagraph shall apply to cases where notices involve employees represented by a Union for
collutlivf bui gjii ling pui pu:,ui. At Lf.e request of either the Recipient or tho rcprcscntntivr-. nf '.i irh cmplnynrr., nngnfiatione for the
piirpor.rr.nf reaching .agreement with respect to the application of the le""sa"'lM>'"liiinns<»riliisanv.ngPii->P(it .shall commence
immediately. Those negotiations shall include determining the selection of forces from among the mass transportation employees
who may be affected as a result of the Project, to establish which such employees shall be offered employment for which they are.
qualified or can be trained; If no agreement is reached within twenty (20) days from the commencement of negotiations, any party
to the dispute rhay submit the matter to dispute settlement procedures in accordance with paragraph (15) of this arrangement.
Unless the parties otherwise mutually agree in writing, no change in operations, services, facilities or equipment within the
purview of this paragraph (5) shall occur until after either: 1) an agreement with respect to the application of the ternis and
conditions of this arrangement to the intended change(s) is reached; 2) the decision of the arbitrator has been rendered pursuant
to this subparagraph (b); or 3} an arbitrator selected pursuant to Paragraph (15) of this arrangement determines that the intended
change(s) may be instituted prior to the finalization of implementing arrangements.

(5)(c) In the event of a dispute as to whether an intended change within the purview of this paragraph (5) may be instituted at the
end of the 60-day notice period and before an implementing agreement is reached or a final arbitration decision is^rendered
pursuant to subparagraph (b), any involved party may immediately submit that issue to arbitration under paragraph (15) of this
arrangem'enli In any such arbitration, the arbitrator shall rely upon the standards and criteria utilized by the Surface Transportation
Board (and its predecessor agency, the Interstate Commerce Commission) to address the "preconsummation issue in cases
involving employee protections pursuant to 49 U.S.C. Section 11326 (or its predecessor, SKtion 5(2)(f) of the Interstate Commerce
Act. as amended). If the Recipient demonstrates, as a threshold matter in any such arbitration, that the intended action is a
trackage rights, lease proceeding or similar transaction, and not a merger, acquisition, consolidation, or other similar transaction,
the burden shall then shift to the involved labor organi2ation(s) to prove that under the standards and criteria referenced above,
the intended action should not be permitted to be instituted prior to the effective date of a negotiated or arbitrated implementing
agreement, if the Recipient fails to demonstrate that the intended action is a trackage rights, lease proceeding, or similar
transaction, it shall be the burden of the Recipient to prove that under the standards and criteria referenced above, the intended
action should be permi tted to be instituted prior to the effective date of a negotiated or arbitrated implementing agreement. For
purposes of any such arbitration, the time period within which the parties are to respond to the list of potential arbitrators



I  ,

submitted by the American Arbitration Association Service shall be five (5) days, the notice of hearing may be given orally or by

facsimile, the hearing will be held promptly, the award of the arbitrator shall be rendered promptly and. unless otherwise agreed to

by the parties, no later than fourteen (14) days from the date of closing the hearings, with five (5) additional days for mailing if
posthearing briefs are requested by either party. The intended change shall not be instituted during the pendency of any
arbitration proceedings under this subparagraph (c).

(5)(d) If an intended change within the purview of this paragraph (5) is instituted before an implementing agreement is reached or a.

final arbitration decision is rendered pursuant to subparagraph (b), all employees affected shall be kept financially whole, as if the

noticed and implemented action has not taken place, from the time they are affected until the effective date of an implementing

agreement or final arbitration decision. This protection shall be in addition to the protective period defined in paragraph ,(14) of this
arrangement, which period shall begin on the effective date of the implementing agreement or final arbitration decision rendered

pursuant to subparagraph (b).

An employee selecting, bidding on, or hired to fill any position established as a result of a noticed and implemented action prior to

the consummation of an implementing agreement or final arbitration decision shall accumulate ho benefits under this
arrangement as a result thereof during that period prior to the consummation of an implementing agreement or final arbitration
decision pursuant to subparagraph (b). ,

(6){a) Whenever an employee, retained in service, recalled to service, or employed by the Recipient pursuant to paragraphs (5), (7)

(e), or (18) hereof is placed in a worse position with respect to compensation as a result of the Project, the employee shall be

considered a "displaced employee", and shall be paid a monthly "displacementallowance" to be determined in accordance with

this paragraph. Said displacement allowance shall be paid each displaced employee during the protective period so long as the

employee is unable, in the exercise of his/her seniority rights, to obtain a position producing compensation equal to or exceeding

the compensation the employee received in the position from which the employee was displaced, adjusted to reflect subsequent

general wage adjustments, including cost of living adjustments where provided for. «

^  ■ ' ' ,

(6)(b) The displacement allowance shall be a monthly allowance determined by computing the total compensation received by the

employee, including vacation allowances and monthly compensation guarantees, and his/her total time paid for during the last

twelve (12) months in which the employee performed compensated service more than fifty per centum of each such months, based

upon the employee's normal work schedule, immediately pieceding the dale of his/her displacement as a result of the Project, and

by dividing separately,the.total.compensatioaand.the.total.time,paid for,by.tw.elve„thereby.produci.ng,theayerage monthly

compensation and the average monthly time paid for. Such allowance shall be adjusted to reflect subsequent general wage*,

adjustments, including cost of living adjustments where provided for. if the displaced employee's compensation in his/her current

position is less in any month during his/her protective period than the aforesaid average compensation (adjusted to reflect

subsequent general wage adjustments, including cost of living adjustments where provided for), the employee shall be paid the

difference, less compensation for any tirrie lost on account of voluntary absences to the extent that the employee is not available

for service equivalent to his/her average monthly time, but the employee shall be compensated in addition thereto at the rate of

the current position for any time worked in excess of the average monthly time paid for. If a displaced employee fails to exercise

his/her seniority rights to secure another position to which the employee is entitled under the then existing collective bargaining

agreement, and which carries a wage rate and compensation exceeding that of the position which the employee elects to retain,

the employee shall thereafter be treated, for the purposes of this paragraph, as occupying the position the employee elects to

decline.

(6)(c) The displacement allowance shall cease prior to the expiration of the protective period in the event of the displaced

employee's resignation, death, retirement, or dismissal for cause in accordance with any labor agreement applicable to his/her

employment.
I •

(7)(a) Whenever any employee is laid off or otherwise deprived of employment as a result of the Project, in accordance with any

collective bargaining agreement applicable to his/her employment, the ernployee shall be considered a "dismissed employee" and

shall be paid a monthly dismissal allowance to be determined in accordance with this paragraph. Said dismissal allowance shall

first be paid each dismissed employee on the thirtieth (30th) day following theday on which the employee is "dismissed" and shall

continue during the protective period, as follow: .

Employee's length of service

prior to advprqp effpct Perind of protection

1 day to 6 years equivalent period

6 years or more 6 years

The monthly dismissal allowance shall be equivalent to one-twelfth (l/12th) of the total compensation received by the employee in

the last twelve (12) months of his/her employment in which the employee performed compensation seivice more than fifty per

centum of each such month based on the employee's normal work schedule to the date on which the employee was first deprived



of employment as a result of the Project. Such allovyance shall be adjusted to reflect subsequent general wage adjustments, ^
including cost of living adjustments where provided for.

(7)(b) An employee shall be regarded as deprived of employment and entitled to a dismissal allowance when the position the
employee holds is abolished as a result of the Project, or when the position the employee holds is not abolished but the employee
loses that position as a result of the exercise of seniority rights by an employee whose position is abolished as a result of the Project
or as a result of the exercise of seniority rights by other employees brought about as a result of the Project, and the employee is
unable to obtain another position, either by the exercise of the employee's seniority rights, or through the Recipient, in accordance
with subparagraph (e). In the absence of proper notice followed by an agreement or decision pursuant to paragraph (5) hereof, no
employee who has been deprived of employment as a result of the Project shall be required to exercise his/her seniority rights to
secure another position in order to qualify for a dismissal allowance hereunder. \ '

(7)(c) Each employee receiving a dismissal allowance shall keep the Recipient informed as to his/her current address and the
current name and address of any other person by whom the employee may be regularly employed, or if the employee is self-
employed.

(

(7)(d) The dismissal allowance shall be paid to the regularly assigned incumbent of the position abolished. If the position of an
employee is abolished when the employee is absent from service, the employee will, be entitled to the dismissal allowance when
the employee is available for service. The employee temporarily filling said position at the time it was abolished will be given a
dismissal allowance on the.basis of.that position, until the regular employee is available for service, and thereafter shall revert to
the employee's previous status and will be given the protections of the agreement in said position, if any are due him/her. j

{7)(e) An employee receiving a dismissal allowance shall be subject to call to return to service by the employee's former employer;
notification shall be in accordance with the terms of the then-existing collective bargaining agreement if the employee is

represented by a union. Prior to such call to rkurn to work by his/her employer, the employee may be required by the Recipient to
accept reasonably comparable employment for which the employee is physically and mentally qualified, or for which the employee
can become qualified after a reasonable training or retraining period, provided it does not require a change in residence or infringe
upon the employment rights of other employees under then-existing collective bargaining agreements.

I

(7)(f) When an employee who is receiving a dismissal allowance again commences employment in accordance with subparagraph
(e) above, said alldwance shall cease while the employee is so reemployed. and the period of time'during which the employee'ls so''
reemployed shall be deducted from the total period for which the employee is entitled to receive a dismissal allowance. During the
time of such reemployment, the employee shall be entitled to the protections of this arrangement to the extent itiey are applicable.

(7){g) The dismissal allowance of any employee who is otherwise employed shall be reduced to the extent that the employee's
combined monthly earnings from such other employment or self-employment, any benefits received from any unemployment
insurance law, and his/her dismissal allowance exceed the amount upon which the employee's dismissal allowance is based. Such
employee, or his/her union representative, and the Recipient shall agree upon a prnrwlnrp hy whirl, i I.p Rh« i|>iM..i sh>.ll I .h ke| .1
currently informed of the earnings of such employee in employment other than with the employee's former employer, including
self-employment, and the benefits received.

(7)(h) The dismissal allowance shall cease prior to the expiration of the protective period in the event of the failure of the employee
-without good cause to return to service in accordance with the applicable labor agreement, or to accept employment as provided
under subparagraph (e) above, or in the event of the employee's resignation, death, retirement, or dismissal for cause in
accordance with any labor agreement applicable to his/her employment.

(7)(i} A dismissed employee receiving a dismissal allowance shall actively seek and not refuse other reasonably comparable
employment offered him/her for which the employee is physically and mentally qualified and does not require a change in the
employee's place of residence. Failure of the dismissed employee to comply with this obligation shall, be grounds for
discontinuance of the employee's allowance; provided that said dismissal allowance shall not be discontinued until final ^
determination is made either by agreement between the Recipient and the employee or his/her representative, or by final
arbitration decision rendered in accordance with paragraph (15) of this arrangement that such employee did not comply with this
obligation.

(8) In determining length of service of a displaced or dismissed employee for purposes of this arrangement, such employee shall be
given full service credits in accordance with the records and labor agreements applicable to him/her and the employee shall be
given additional service credits for each month in which the employee receives a dismissal or displacement allowance as if the
employee were continuing to perform services in his/her former position.

(9) No employee shall be entitled to either a displacement or dismissal allowance under paragraphs (5) or (7) hereof because of the
abolishment of a position to which, at some future t^me, the employee could have bid. been transferred, or promoted.



(10) No employee receiving a dismissal or displacement allowance shall be deprived, during the employee's protected period, of

any rights, privileges, or benefits attaching to his/her employment, including, without lirnitation, group life insurance,

hospitalization and medical care, free transportation for the employee and the employee's family, sick leave, continued status and

participation under any disability or retirement program, and such other ernployee benefits as Railroad Retirement, Social Security,

Workmen's Compensation, and unemployment compensation, as well as any other benefits to which the employee may be entitled

under the same conditions and so long as such benefits continue to be accorded to other employees of the bargaining unit, in

active service or furloughed as the case may be.

(11)(a) Any employee covered by this arrangement who is retained in the service of his/her employer, or who is later restored to

service after being entitled to receive a dismissal allowance, and who is required to change the point of his/her employment in

order to retain or secure active employment with the Recipient in accordance with this arrangement, and who is required to move

his/her place of residence, shall be reimbursed for all expenses of moving his/her household and other personal effects, for the

traveling expenses for the employee and members of the employee's immediate family, including living expenses for the employee

and the employee's immediate family, and for his/her own actual wage loss during the time necessary for such transfer and for a

reasonable time thereafter, not to exceed five (5) working days. The exact extent of the responsibility of the Recipient under this

paragraph, and the ways and means of transportation, shall be agreed upon in advance between the R^ipient and the affected

employee or the employee's representatives.

{ll)(b) If any such employee is laid off within three (3) years after changing his/her point of employment In accordance with

paragraph (a) hereof, and elects to move his/her place of residence back to the original point of employment, the Recipient shall

assume the expenses, losses and costs of moving to the same extent provided in subparagraph (a) of this paragraph (11) and

paragraph (I2)(a) hereof.

(ll)(c) No claim for reimbursement shall be paid under the provisions of this paragraph unless such claim is presented to the

Recipient in writing within ninety (90) days after the date on which the expenses were incurred.

(11)(d) Except as otherwise provided in'subparagraph (b), changes in place of residence, subsequent to the initial changes as a

result of the Project, which are not a result of the Project but grow out of the normal exercise of seniority rights, shall not be

considered within the purview of,this paragraph. ^ ^

(12)(a) The following conditions shall apply to the extent they are applicable in each instance to any employee who is retained in

the service pf the employer (or who is later restored to service after being entitled to receive a dismissal allowance), who is required

to change the point of his/her employment as a result of the Project, and is thereby required to move his/her place of residence.

If the employee is under a contract to purchase his/her home, the Recipient shall protect the employee against loss under such

contract, and in addition, shall relieve the employee from any further obligation thereunder.

If the employee holds'an unexpired lease of a dwelling occupied as the employee's home, the Recipient shall protect the employee

from all loss and cost in securing the cancellation of said lease.

(12)(b) No claim for loss shall be paid under the provisions of this paragraph unless such claim is presented to the Recipient in

writing within one year after the effective date of the change in residence.

(12)(c) Should a controversy arise in respect to the value of the home, the loss sustained in its sale, the loss under a contract for

purchase, loss and cost in securing termination of a (ease, or any other question in connection with these matters, it shall be

decided through a joint conference between the employee, or his/her union, and the Recipient. In the event they are unable to

agree, the dispute or controversy may be referred by the Recipient or the union to a board of competent real estate appraisers

selected in the following manner: one(l) to be selected by the representatives of the employee, and one (1) by the Recipient, and

these two, if unable to agree within thirty (30) days upon the valuation, shall endeavor by agreement with ten (10) days thereafter

to select a third appraiser of to agree to a method by vvhich a third appraiser shall be selected, and failing such agreement, either

party may request the State and local Board of Real Estate Commissioners to designate within ten (10) days a third appraiser,

whose designation will be binding upon the parties and whose jurisdiction shall be limited to determination of the issues raised in

this paragraph only. A decision of a majority of the appraisers shall be required and said decision shall be final, binding, and

conclusive. The compensation and expenses of the neutral appraiser including expenses of the appraisal board, shall be borne

equally by the parties to the proceedings. All other expenses shall be paid by the party incurring them, including the compensation

of the appraiser selected by such party.

(12)(d) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (ll){b) hereof, changes in place of residence, subsequent to the initial changes as

a result of the Project, which are not a result of the Project but grow out of the normal exercise of seniority rights, shall not be



considered within the purview of this paragraph.

(12)(e) "Change in residence" means transfer to a work location which is eitherjA) outside a radius of twenty (20) miles of the
employee's former work location and farther from the employee's residence than was his/her former work location, or (B) is more
than thirty (30) normal highway route miles from the employee's residence and also farther from his/her residence than was the
employee's former work location. ^

(13)(a) A dismissed employee entitled to protection under this arrangement may. at the employee's option within twenty-one (21)
days of his/her dismissal, resign and (in lieu of all other benefits and protections provided in this arrangement) accept a lump sum
payment computed in accordance with section (9) of the Washington Job Protection Agreement of May 1936: ^

Length of Service <^pparat}nn Allowance ,

1 year and less than 2 years3months'pay ^ .
2  3" 6""

•  3 5" 9""

5""""10" 12""

10 15 "12""

15"" over 12" " .

In the case of an employee with less than one year's service; five days' pay, computed by multiplying by 5 the normal daily earnings
(including regularly scheduled overtime, but excluding other overtime payments) received by the employee in the position last
occupied, for each month in which the employee performed service, will be paid as the lump sum.

Length of service shall be computed as provided in Section 7(b) of the Washington Job Protection Agreement, as follows;

j For the purposes of this arrangement, the length of service of the employee shall be determined from the date the employee last
acquired an employment status with the employing carrier and the employee shall be given credit for one month's service for each
month in which the employee performed any service (in any capacity whatsoever) and twelve (12) such months shall be credited as
one year's service. The employment status of an employee shall not be interrupted by furlough in instances where the employee (
has a right to and does return to service when called. In determining length of service of an employee acting as an officer or other
official representative of an employee organization, the employee will be given credit for performing service while so engaged on
leave of absence from the service of a carrier.

(13)(b) One month's pay shall be computed by multiplying by 30 the normal daily earnings (Including regularly scheduled overtime,
but excluding other overtime payments) received by the employee in the position last occupied prior'to time of the employee's
dismissal as a result of the Project.

(14) Whenever used herein, unless the context requires otherwise, the term "protective period" means that period of time during
which a displaced pt dismissed employee is to^be provided protection hcrcundcr and extends from the date on which an employee
is displaced or dismissed to the expiration of six (6) years therefrom, provided, however, that the protective.period for any •
particular employee during which the employee is entitled to receive the benefits of these provisions shall not continue for a longer
period following the date the employee was displaced or dismissed than the employee's length of service, as shown by the records
and labor agreements applicable to his/her employment prior to the date of the employee's displacement or dismissal.

(15)(a) In the event that employee(s) are represented by a Union, any dispute, claim, or grievance arising from or relating to the
interpretation, application or enforcement of the provisions of this arrangement, not otherwise governed by paragraph 12(c), the

.  Labor-Management Relations Act, as amended, the Railway Labor Act, as amended,'or by impasse resolution provisions in a
collective bargaining or protectivearrangement involving the Recipient and the Union, which cannot be settled by the parties
thereto within thirty (30) days after the dispute or controversy arises, may be referred by any such party to any final and binding
disputes'settlement procedure acceptable to the parties. In the event they cannot agree upon such procedure, the dispute, claim,
or grievance may be submitted at the written request of the Recipient or the Union to final and binding arbitration. Should the
parties be unable to agree upon'the selection of a neutral arbitrator within ten (10) days, any party may request the American
Arbitration Association to furnish, from among arbitrators who are then available to serve, five (5) arbitrators from which a neutral
arbitrator shall be selected. The parties shall, within five (5) days after the receipt of such list, determine by lot the order of
elimination and thereafter each shall, in that order, alternately eliminate one name until only one name remains. The remaining
person on the list shall be the neutral arbitrator. Unless otherwise provided, in the case of arbitration proceedings, under paragraph
(5) of this arrangement, the arbitration shall commence within fifteen (15) days after selection or appointment of the neutral
arbitrator, and the decision shall be rendered within forty-five (45) days after the hearing of the dispute has been concluded and the
record closed. The decision shall be final and binding. All the conditions of the arrangement shall continue to be effective during
the arbitration proceedings.



(15)(b) The compensation and expenses of the neutral arbitrator, and any other jointly incurred expenses, shall be borne equally by

the Union(s) and Recipient, and all other expenses shall be paid by the party incurring them.

(15){c) In the event that emptoyee(s) are not represented by a Union, any dispute, claim, or grievance arising from or relating to the

interpretation, application or enforcement of the provisions of this arrangement which cannot be settled by the Recipient and the

employee{s) within thirty (30) days after the dispute or controversy arises, may be referred by any such party to any final and

binding dispute settlement procedure acceptable to the parties, or in the event the parties cannot agree upon such a procedure,

the dispute or controversy may be referred to the Secretary of Labor for a final and binding determination. ,

{15)(d) In the event of any dispute as to whether or not a particular employee was affected by the Project, it shall be the obligation

of the employee or the representative of the employee to identify the Project and specify the pertinent facts of the Project relied

upon. It shall then be the burden of the Recipient to prove that factors other than the Project affected the employee. The claiming

employee shall prevail if it is established that the Project had an effect upon the employee even if other factors may also have'

affected the employee.'(See Hodgson's Affidavit in Civil Action No. 825-71).

(16) The Recipient will be financially responsible for the application of these conditions and will make the necessary arrangements
I

so that any employee covered by this arrangement may file a written claim of its violation, through the Union, or directly if the

employee is outside the bargaining unit, with the Recipient within sixty (60) days of the date the employee is terminated or. laid off

as a result of the Project, or within eighteen (18) months of the date the employee's position with respect to his/her employment is

otherwise worsened as a result of the Project, in the latter case, if the events giving rise to the claim have occurred over an

extended period, the 18-montli limitation shall be measured from the last such event. No benefits shall be payable for any period

prior to six (6) months from the date of the filing of any claim. Unless such claims are filed with the Recipient within said time

limitations, the Recipient shall thereafter be relieved of all liabilities and obligations related to the claim.

The Recipient will fully honor the claim, making appropriate payments, or will give notice to the claimant or his/her representative

of the basis for denying or modifying such claim, giving reasons'therefore. If the Recipient fails to honor such claim, the Union or

non-bargaining unit employee may invoke the following procedures for further joint investigation of the claim by giving notice in

writing. Within ten (10) days from the receipt of such notice, the parties shall exchange such factual material as may be requested of

them relevant to the disposition of the claim and shall jointly take such steps as may be necessary or desirable to obtain from any

third party such additional factual materials as may be relevant. In the event the Recipient rejects the claim, the claim may be

processed to arbitration as hereinabove provided by paragraph (15). ^ ^

(17) Nothing in this arrangement shall be construed as depriving any employee of any rights or benefits which such employee may

have under existing employment or collective bargaining agreements or otherwise; provided that there shall be no duplication of

benefits to any employee, and, provided further, that any benefit under this arrangement shall be construed to include the

conditions, responsibilities, and obligations accompanying such benefit. This arrangement shall not be deemed a waiver of any

rights of any Union or of any represented employee derived from any other agreement or provision of federal, state or local law.

(18) During the employee's protective period, a dismissed employee shall, if the employee so requests, in writing, be granted

priority of.employment or reemployment to fill any vacant position within the jurisdiction and control of the Recipient reasonably

comparable to that which the employee held when dismissed, including those in the employment of any entity bound by this

arrangement pursuant to paragraph (21) herein, for which the employee is, or by training or retraining can become, qualified; not,

however, in contravention of collective bargaining agreements related thereto. In the event such employee requests such training

or re-training to fill such vacant position, the Recipient shall provide for such training or re-training at no cost to the employee. The

employee shall be paid the salary or hourly rate provided for in the applicable collective bargaining agreement or otherwise

established in personnel policies or practices for such position, plus any displacement allowance to which the employee may be

otherwise entitled. If such dismissed employee who has made such request fails, without good cause, within ten (10) days to accept

an offer of a position comparable to that which the employee held when dismissed for which the employee is qualified, or for which

the employee has satisfactorily completed such training, the employee shall, effective at the expiration of such ten-day period,

forfeit all rights and benefits under this arrangement.

As between employees who request employment pursuant to this paragraph, the following order where applicable shall prevail in

hiring such employees:

(a) Employees in the craft or class of the vacancy shall be given priority over employees without seniority in such craft or class;

(b) As between employees having seniority in the craft or class of the vacancy, the senior'employees, based upon.their service in

that craft or class, as shown on the appropriate seniority roster, shall prevail over junior employees;

(c) As between employees not having seniority in the craft or class of the vacancy, the senior employees, based upon their service in

the crafts or classes in which they do have seniority as shown on the appropriate seniority rosters, shall prevail over junior

employees.



(19) The Recipient will post, in a prominent and accessible place, a notice stating that the Recipient has received federal assistance
under the Federal Transit statute and has agreed to comply with the provisions of 49 U.S.C., Section 5333(b). This notice shall also

specify the terms and conditions set forth herein for the protection of employees. The Recipient shall maintain and keep on file all
relevant books and records in sufficient detail as to provide the basic information necessary to the prpper application,

administration, and enforcement of this arrangement and to the proper determination of any claims arising thereunder.

(20) In the event the Project is approved for assistance under the statute, the foregoing terms and conditions shall be made part of
the contract of assistance between the federal government and the applicant for federal funds and between the applicant and any
recipient of federal funds; provided, however, that this arrangement shall not merge into the contract of assistance, but shall be
independently binding and enforceable by and upon the parties thereto, and by any covered employee or his/her representative, in
accordance with its terms, nor shall any other employee protktive agreement merge into this arrangement, but each shall be
independently binding and enforceable by and upon the parties thereto. In accordance with its terms. -

/  . I I ^

(21) This arrangement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties hereto, and no provisions, terms, or
obligations herein contained shall be affected, modified, altered, or changed in any respect whatsoever by reason of the
arrangements made by or for the Recipient to manage and operate the system.

Any person, enterprise, body, or agency, whether publicly - or privately-owned, which shall undertake the management, provision
and/or operation of the Project services or the Recipient's transit system, or any part or portion thereof, under contractual

arrangements of any form with the Recipient, its successors or assigns, shall agree to be bound by the terms of this arrangement
and accept the responsibility with the Recipient for full perforniance of these conditions. As a condition precedent to any such
contractual arrangements, the Recipient shall require such person, enterprise, body or agency to so agree.

(22) In the event of the acquisition, assisted with Federal funds, of any transportation system or services, or any part or portion
thereof, the employees of the acquired entity shall be assured employment, in comparable positions, within the jurisdiction and
control of the acquiring entity, including positions in the employment of any entity bound by this arrangement pursuant to
paragraph (21). All persoris'employed under the provisions of this paragraph shall be appointed to such comparable positions
without examination, other than that required by applicable federal, state or federal law or collective bargaining agreement, and

shall be credited with their years of service for purposes of seniority, vacations, and pensions in accordance with the records of
their former employer and/or any applicable collective bargaining agreements.

(23) The employees covered by this arrangement shall continue to receive any applicable coverage under Social Security, Railroad
Retirement, Workmen's Compensation, unemployment compensation, and the like. In no event shall these benefits be worsened
as a result of the Project.

(24) In the event any provision of this arrangement is held to be invalid, or otherwise unenforceable under the federal, state, or
local law, in the context of a particular Project, the remaining provisions of this arrangement shall not be affected and the invalid or
unenforceable provision shall be renegotiated by the Recipient and the interested Union representatives, if any, of the employees
involved for purpose of adequate replacement under Section 5333(b). If such negotiation shall not result in mutually satisfactory
agreement any party'may invoke the jurisdiction of the Secretary of Labor to determine substitute fair and equitable employee
protective arrangements for application only to the particular Project, which shall be incorporated in this arrangement only as
applied to that Project, and any other appropriate action, remedy, or relief.

(25) If any employer of the employees covered by this arrangement shall have rearranged or adjusted its forces in anticipation of .
the Project, with the effect of depriving an employee of benefits to which the employee should be entitled under this arrangement,
the provisions of this arrangement shall apply to such ernployee as of the date when the employee was so affected.

Last Updated: 02-07-18 '
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FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement ' Revised 07/18/2022

FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement

I

Name of Awarding Agency: Federal Transit Administration (FTA)
A

Name of Recipient Agency: New Hampshire Department of Transportation (NHDOT)

Name ofSubrecipient/Contracting Agency: Southwestern Community Services

Southwestern Community Services, shall comply with all applicable federal laws, regulations,
and requirements as outlined in the most recent Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Master
Agreement and Federal Certifications and Assurances. This award includes information required
by 2 CFR Part'200 as follows: ' , . .

FTA award project description: (As required to be responsive to the Federal Funding Accountability and
Transparency Act (FFATA)

Amount: $304,200.00

Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number: 20.513
FTA Award Name: FTA SECTION 5310 (COMBINED) RCC PROGRAM APPLICATIONS
Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN): NH-2D21-016-01

Federal Award Date: 9/1/22

Contact information for sub-awarding official: '

Name: Michelle L. Winters Title: Director of Aeronautics, Rail & Transit .
Email: Michelle.L.Winters@dot.nh.gov Phone: 603-271-2449
Is this award for research and development? No
NFIDOT's cost rate for the federal award: N/A-

Subrecipient/Contractor Information:

Subrecipient/Contractor Name: Southwestern Community Services
Subrecipient/Contractor SAM.GOV I.D..: HMUUXK8MBJC3
Name of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official: Beth Daniels
Title of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official: CEO
Federal Clauses: N/A ^ .
Master Agreement/Certifications and Assurances: Yes
Subrecipient/Contractor Federal indirect cost rate: 12%
(An approved federally recognized indirect cost rale negotiated between the siibrecipient/contractor and the Federal
Government or. ifno such rate exists, either a rale negotiated bet^veen the pass-through entity and the siibrecipient
(in compliance with this part), or a De Minimis indirect cost rate as defined in §200.414 Indirect. (FiScA) costs,
paragraph (f)).

Subaward Period of performance:

Start Date: 7/1/23 End Date: 6/30/25
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FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement Revised 07/18/2022

Total amount of FTA sub-award obligated by this action (coniract/amendment):

For FFY; 2024 Section; 5310 RCC Amount: $304,200.00

Total amount of FTA sub-award committed to the subrecinient (orisinai comract & amentfmenis):

For FFY: 2024 Section: 5310 RCC Amount: $304,200.00

Pass-through requirements: , . ^

The Subrecipient/Contraclor, Southwestern Community Services agrees to meet all requirement
imposed by the pass-through entity (NHDOT) on the subrecipient so that the Federal award is
used in accordance with Federal statues, regulations and the terms and conditions of the Federal
award.

The Subrecipient/Contractor, Southwestern Community Services agrees to any additional
requirements that the pass-through eritity (NHDOT) imposes on the subrecipient in order for the
pass-through entity (NHDOT) in order for the pass-through entity (NHDOT) to meet its own
responsibility to the Federal awarding agency (FTA) including identification of any required
financial and performance reports.

The Subrecipient/Contractor, Southwestern Community Services agrees to permit the pass-
through entity (NHDOT) and auditors to have access to the subrecipients records and financial
statements as necessary for the pass-through entity to meet the requirements of this part; and
appropriate terms and conditions concerning closeout of the subaward.

Date: W/a7/a.'^
I

Name of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official: Beth Daniels

Title of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official: CEO

Signature of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official:



FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement
Revised 07/18/2022

FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement

Name ofAwarding Agency: Federal Transit Administration (FTA)

Name of Recipient Agency: New Hampshire,Department of Transportation (NHDOT)

Name ofSubrecipient/Contracting Agency: Southwestern Community Services

Southwestern Cnmrnunitv Services, shall comply with all applicable federal laws, regulations,
and requirements as outlined in the most recent Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Master
Agreement and Federal Certifications and Assurances. This award includes information required
by 2 CFR Part" 200 as follows: " . j .

FTA award project description: (As required to be responsive to the Federal Funding Accountability and
Transparency Act (FFATA)

Amount: $828,000.00

Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number: 20.509
FTA Award Name: FTA SECTION 5311 (RURAL) PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION PROJECT
SOLICITATION

Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN): NH-2021-017
Federal Award Date: 9/8/21

Contact information for sub-awarding official:
Name: Michelle L. Winters Title: Director of Aeronautics, Rail & Transit
Email: Michelle.L.Winters@dot.nh.gov Phone: 603-271-2449
Is this award for research and development? No
NHDOT's cost rate for the federal award: N/A

/

Subrecipient/Contractor Information:
Subrecipient/Contractor Name: Southwestern Community Services
Subrecipient/Contractor SAM.GOV I.D.: HMUUXK8MBJC3 .
Name of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official: Beth Daniels
Title of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official: CEO
Federal Clauses: N/A

Master Agreement/Certifications and Assurances. Yes
Subrecipient/Contractor Federal indirect cost rate: 12% ' u
(An approved federally reeognized indirect cost rate negotiated hettveen the suhrecptent/contractot and the federa
ZeZZ a, Lo such rate exists, either a rate negotiated bettveen the pass-through enttty and the snbreaptent
(in compliance with this part), or a De Minimis indirect cost rate as defined m §2(10.414 Indirect. (FM) costs,
paragraph (f)). '

SubaVvard Period of performance:

Start Date: 7/1/23 End Date: 6/30/25



FTA and 2 CFR 200 Agreement Revised 07/18/2022

Total amount of FTA sub-award obligated by this action (contract/amendment)-.

For FFY: 2024 Section: 531 1 Amount: $828,000.00

Total amount of FTA sub-award committed to the subrecinient (oneinni contract & amendments):

For FFY: 2024 Section: 531 1 Amount: $828,000.00 J

Pass-through requirements:

The Subrecipient/Contractor, Southwestern Community Services agrees to meet all requirement
imposed by the pass-through entity/(NHDOT) on the subreciplent so that the Federal award is
used in accordance with Federal statues, regulations and the terms and conditions of.the Federal
award.

The Subrecipient/Contractor, Southwestern Community Services agrees to any additional
, requirements that the pass-through entity (NHDOT) imposes on the subrecipient in order for the
pass-through entity (NHDOT)'in order for the pass-through entity (NHDOT) to meet its own
responsibility to the Federal awarding agency (FTA) including identification of any required
financial and performance reports.

The Subrecipient/Contractor, Southwestern Community Services agrees to permit the pass-
through entity (NFlDOT) and auditors to have access to the subrecipients records and financial
statements as necessary for the pass-through entity to meet the requirements of this part; and
appropriate terms and conditions concerning closeout of the subaward.

Date: .

/  _ - .
Name of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official: Beth Daniels

Title of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official: CEO

Signature of authorizing subrecipient/contracting official:

\  ,
(



■ '; Internal Revenue S^^ice
i District Director : -

D«1t: .  JAN 0 5 15^17^

- department of the Jrersnry
BOX COBl :

rO". !•'. KJCIIiHjY ?'>%T OFFICE

3 BOSTON, MA, 02203

Person to Contact:

;MariD.yn Hamilton
Contact Telephone Number

•(617) 223-U98 ■

•  Souttiweatem .Community, Servdces, Inc.
'40 Mechanic Street •
Keene, Nev/ Hampshire" .03431

Gentlemen:

"  "Date of Exemption: Mhrch, 1966
Internal Revenue Code Section: 501(c)(3l

\

Thank you for submitting the information shown below. We have made
.it a.-part of your file. -.

;The changes indicated do not adversely laffect your exempt status
and the'exemption letter issued to you continues in effect.

•  -^rplease'let us-'kn'owabout any future change-'in :the"charaGterr"^ -
purpose; method:of operation, name or address of your organization.
This is. a requirement for • retaining your exempt statuis.

Thank you for your cooperation.

Sinceirely yours.

District Director

Item Changed

Name

From

Sullivan and Chesiiire

County Community Action
Associates

To

Southv;estem

Community Services,
Inc.

JFK Federal BIdg., Boston, Mass. 02203„ Letter 976 (DO) (7-77)



637Form

(R«v. July 1973)

D<p«rtniint of th* Tretsury
lnt«rn«1 Rfvonui Sorrier

Registration for Tax-Free Transactions
Under Chapter 32 of the Internal Revenue Code,

This Application Should Also Be Used by Producers and Importers
.  of Gasoline and Manufacturers of Lubricating Oil .

JUL$ 1974
For District Director's Use Only

|^o/G2-7it-0051-I

c

X

Name of individuel, corporation, partnership, association, etc. '^^SMiaf-^Kurily-'or Employer Identification Number
02-60133.03- . ■ . - ■

w

o

o

Name under which business is operated

V* i '> * ,

Will you be required
to file Form 720? . □ Yes □ No

1
Si!

Business address (Number and street) File this application in duplicate
with your District Director of Internal

a
s>

£
City, State, and ZIP code Revenue. See the instructions on

pages 2 and'4.

Application Is hereby made for a Certificate of Registry in the name(s), Indicated above. The applicant is a:
Q. Producer Q Importer
Q Other (specify), ► . ' r-

Q Wholesaler Q Jobber
Tiufv-

Q Selling or Q Purchasing (specify type of
product) ►

Q Manufacturer
Q Retailer
The applicant affirms that use of articles purchased or uoid tax-free Is to be for the exempt purposes specified in the applicable provi
sions of the law and regulations and understands that misuse of this certificate will lead to Its revocation and/or the penalties provided by
law. f
See item 2 on page 2 and check applicable letter(s). 1 qualify as a: *
□ 0' □ b. □ c. □ □ e. P-f. □ 0. □ b. QJ..g j. I-Q m.. and/otQ,n (otherTT-speclfy).>

Un4«r U)t pw^lM of ptrjury, I docltra Uiit I hovt oumlht^ thli ippllcjtlM tnd to tho bttl el my luraw(Kl|o tnd boll^lt li truo, comet, ond eemploto.

Dot>SIgnetui

District Director's Validation
A eertlflctt* of registry for tha abova applicant Is approved and Issued under the nuiritwr shown.

Frank Murphy i/ r ' / 7-5-7ifBylK, I Oat.DistrfctDiractorofintomafRavanuo RussbIi E) MersEresu, CHief, "Revieui Staff
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT " • CONCOim
—^ ^

To the Board of Directors of

Southwestern Community Services. Inc.

,Report-on .the Audit.of the Financial Statemerits .

Opinion

We have^ audited- the accompanying consolidated financial' statements of Southwestern
Community Services. Inc. (a New Hampshire nonprofit corporation) and . related companies,,
which, corhprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of May 31, 2022. and the
related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year
then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

.In our opiriion, the consolidated financial-.stateii^^^ presentTairly. in ajl rnaterial respects, the
financial positibn of Southwestern Cornmunlty-Servjces; Inc. and; related companies as of May
31; 2022, and, the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year Ihetvehd'ed in '
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with-auditing standands generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the.Comptroller General of the. United States.- Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described" in the Auditors' ResponsibiliUes for
the Audit of the Firiancial S.tatements section of our report. We,are required to be independent
■of Southwestern Community Services,. Inc. and related companies-and to meet pur" ,other
ethical responsibilities,- in accordance with .the relevant ethical requirements relating' to our-
audit. We .believe that the audit evidence we have, obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinions. ^

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements \

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted-in the United

iStates of America, and for the design, implementation, and rtiaintenance of internal control
- relevant to the .preparation and fair presentation of consolidated, financial statements that are

free frorn material misstatement, whether dub .to fraud or error.



In preparing the financial statements,-management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt- about,
Southwestern Community Services, Inc. and related companies' ability to continue as a going
concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are available
to be issued. - '

.  . I
Auditors' ResponsibHities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material missta'tement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a'high level of
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is .not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with.generally accepted auditing standards and Goyernment Auditing
Standards will always detect s material misstaternent when itexists. The'risk-bf not detecting a
material misstaternent resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentionardmissions. misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is .a .substantial, likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence-the judgment made by .a reaspnable user
based on the consolidated financial statements.

In performing an audit .in, accordance with generally accepted auditing^' standards and,
Government Auditing Standards, ̂e:

•  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstaternent of the consdlidated financial
statements, whether, due to fraud or error, and design and' perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a.lest basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures iri'Llie consOliUaled.nnancial stalemerils.

t Obtain an understanding of internal-control relevant to the audit,in order to design audit
procedures that, are appropriate in the circumstances;, but not'for the-purpose of
expressing .ah opinion on the effectiveness of Southwestern Conirtiunity Services, inc.
and related companies', internal control. Accordingly,, no such'opinion.is expressed. ^

•  Evaluate the apprbpriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the, overall
presentation of,the consolidated financial statements-:

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the-'
aggregate-, that raise substantial doubt about Southwestern-Community Services, Inc,
and related companies' ability to continue as a going concern fp.r a reasonable period of
time.

We.are required to communicate with those charged with^ governance" regardihg, among other
matters, the planned scope and tinning of the audit, significant, audit.findings, and certain
internal control-related imatters that we-identified during the audit.

f



Report on Summarized Comparative Information

We have previously audited Southwestern Community ServiceSj Inc. and related companies
2021 financiarstatements. and we expressed an unmodified audit opinion.on those audited
financial statements, in our report dked October 22. 2021. In our opinion, the summarized
comparative information presented herein.as of and for the year ended May 31, 2021, is.
consistent, in all rriaterial respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has. beep;
derived.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming ah opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal .awards, as
required by Title- 2. U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part.;:200, Uniform Administrative
fRequirerrientSrCost Principles, and Audit Requirements forFederal Awards, is .presented for
purposes of additional analysis^and is not a required part of the consolidated financial
statements. Such information'is the responsibility of .management and was derived .from and
relates directly to the. underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
consolidated "financiaU.state.ments. The' information .has been subjected to 'the. auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and .certain additional
procedures; including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting ahd other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the
consolidated financial statements themselves, and. other additional procedures in accordance
with auditing standards'generally-accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
' schedule of expehSitures offederal awards is faifry statOd.'in a material respects, in relation to

■  the'consolidated'fihahcraL statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

Iri accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we haye also issued our report dated
February 9. 2023, oh our consideration of Southwestern Comrhuhity Services. Inc.'s internal
control' over .financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain, provisions of
laws^.regulationSi, contracts, and grant agreements; and other matters. The purpose of that
report is. solely to describe the scope of- our testing oif internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and. the results of that testing,, and not to provide ah .opinion on the
effectiveness of Southwestern Community Services, Inc.'s internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral.;part of an audit performed in accordance
vjiih Government'Auditing Standards \n considering Southwestern Community Services, Inc. s
internal, control over financial reporting and compliance.

Wolfeboro, New Hampshire
February 9, 20'23 ■



SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY-SERVICES. \UC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

CONSOLlbATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

ASSETS

2022 2021

CURRENT ASSETS .
Cash and cash equivalents-
Accounts.receivable, net

Prepaid expenses

Total current assets

PROPERTY

Land and buildings
Vehicles and equipment
Furnrturo and fixtures

Total,properly

y  Less accumulated depreciation

Property, nel

OTHER ASSETS

Investment In related parties
Due from related parties
Cash escrow arid feseive'funds

Security deposits. .
" Other assets

Total other assetS'

Tdtalaissels

CURRENT LIABiLITlES

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

3.153.976

1,745.952'
243.990

5.143.916

29.859.136

• 555,554

.g58.07.2'

31.372.762

'15.527.463.

15:845.279

94.230.

47,566-

1.479i277

,111,033'
384

.  - 1.732.490

S '22.721,687-

$  1,722.941
1,783,993

62,628

3.569.562

28.549:202

565.380

934.441

30,049.023

14.621-.952

15:427.071

138.001

55.138

1,471.741.
105.790

384

,1.771.054.

•$■ 20.767.687

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued payroll arid payroll taxes
Other current liabilities -
Refundable advances j
Current portion of'Economic injury Disaster Loan
Current portion of long,term debt

$  '208,035
229.110
353.780:
158.972

1.519.622
3.585-

159.974 .

S  240;586
170.074

-244.003:
148.854
729.955

142.174

Tola! current liabilities
/

2.633,084 1,675.646

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Long term debt, less current portion shoWn abpVe
Economic Injury Disaster Loan, less current portion shbwri above

■1 1.243.212
146.415

\
10,911.627

150,000

Tola! noncurreoi liabilities 11.389.627 11.061.627

>

Total liabilities 14.022,711 12.737.273

NETASSETS
Without donor restrictions
With donor restrictions

8.564.624
134.352

7.815.065
215.349

Total net assets / 8:698.97(5. 8,030:414

Total liabilities arid net assets
*  I ^

$ 22,721.687

t

$ .20.767.687

' See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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snUTHWFSTFRN CQMMUNnV SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED CQMEAN1£S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MAY 31.2022

WITH PRIOR YEAR SUMMARIZED COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Without Donor

Restrictions

With Donor

Restrictions

2022

Total

2021

Total

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

Government contracls

Program service fees
Rental income

Support
Sponsorship
Interest income

Forgiveness of ctebl
Miscellaneous

In-kind contributions

Total revenues and other supoort;

NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM

RESTRICTIONS

Total revenues, other support, and ■

net assets released from restrictions
/

EXPENSES

Program services:
Home energy programs
Education and nutrition

Homeless programs
Housing services
Economic developrrient services

'Other prograrns

Total program.services

Supporting activities
Management and general

\
Total expense-

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE'

LOSS ON SALE OF PROPERTY

LOSS ON SALE OF PROPERTY

LOSS ON INVESTMENT If^ LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

CHANGE IN NET ASSETiS

NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

NET ASSETS TRANSFERRED FROM

LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS-

NET ASSETS, END.OF YEAR

24.553.574

2.991;407

1,817.636
610.2)17

28.520

1.099
90.609

156,954
89.366

30,339.412

139.925,

30.479:337

7.051,760.

2.826,493

13,349.415
3.Q70.446

658:791

'683.000

27,639.905

\

2.031.266

29,671.171

808,166

(14.836)

(43.771)

749.559.

7.815,'065

58,928

58,928

139,925)

S 24,553.574

2,991.407

1,817.636
669,175
;28;526
1.099

90.609
156,954

89.366

30,398.340

(80.9971 30.398.34d

7.05i:.76D

2,826.493

13.349.415

3.070.446

658791
'683,000

(80,997)

(80.997)

215.348,

27.639.905

2.031.266 ,

29.671.171

,  727,169

^  (.14,836)

(43.771)

668,562'

8.Ci30.4l4

14.451,497

2.708.902
1,657.741
601.638

21,703

1,402

518:501

239,096
65,414

20.265,894

20.265.B94\

5,559.497

2,629,099

5.516,502

2,913.953
621.784

750.430

17;991.265

.1,948,872

,19,939.937

325,957

(60,897)

265,060

4.911.109

2.854.245

S  .8.564,624 $ -iM.aSZ :S' 8,698,976 $ 8:030.414

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATEO COMPftNIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MAY 31. 2022

Homt Energy
Proutains

Education

end ^
Nutrilion

Pey^di
Pay^ taxes
En-.plo'/ee ionafiie
He'jrcrrcfil
Atlvfftanp
Bankcliargss
ComMlsr cost

Cont'oclual

Deprerjatinn
Ducs*vg>slratioii
Oud^cailnc
locoronte

Inlerest

Mueling and cun(e;a)iu*

^/lscallarteou6 expense
r/isceltanacus taxes

Equipnient pumhsM-x
O/Oceaxpuneu
Po&'j;e
Pfoieesionei tees

Staff dwetcpment and training
SulJ»cik'licn:>
Telepnone
T.'avel
Vet>:clft

Rent

Space costs
Diiscldieiil assisianca

In-Mpd expensQs

TOTAL FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES BEFORE

MANAGEMENT AND GENERAL ALLOCATION

Ailocuon Of management end general exzer.sss

TOTAL FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

S  SSI .449 5  1.553,713
45,132 127.557

137,544 387,109
31.440 95.676
1.0DC 12.573

35 -

sd: 15,754

828.975 15,256
. 20.438

2,539

8,660
6,123 16.620

-

423

870 2.017

14.730 -3,421

43.201 6,735
150 383

1.07S -

1.866 2.687

,5,147 3,727

4.715 18,8.59

9.433
8.0CO 10.300

21,837 205,132
5.338.825 ' 212.648

89,366

7.051,700 2.820.493

.518.236 207.720

S  7,S89.9&a $ 3.034.213

Economic ManagemenI

Homsieas Housing Oevelopmeni Other Total and 2022

Prouratm Services Servtcas Pinurams Prooram GenernI Total

' $ 001.469 ?  672.177 5  340,079 S  410.924 S 4,135.811 $  850.743 S  4,292.5.5.9

49.849 51.549 30.490 35.545 340.123 68.373 408.501

140.322 217.63/ 27.775 137.184 1,047.571 101,743 1.149.314

32.387 43.044 18.063 18.580 243.710 56,594 31 •3.304

428 7.537 8.801 .30,4;'G 5,120 35.525

663 4,650 . . S.348 9.701 15.049

13.319 • 3.001 14.818 - 52.559 157.747 179.040

87.431 2?.,033 . 35.197 992.852 £3.339 1.C5S.212

. 134,030 674.5D6 . 3.S10 838,750 150.982 983.773

• 430 sea 125 3,652 11.739 15,401

, 8.660 5,503 14.163

33.676, 82,108 19.659 7.313 147,699 45,537 190.236

9.530 43.822 . 278 59,059 118.506 1/7.065

354 3.255 832 3.E62 7.303 1.838 8.939

120 112.217 6.368 5,102 127.414 3b;314 158.238

123,976 .
. 129,976 15C 130.126

" 5.376 . 519 24,046 72C 24.7G0

22;754 1D.4'39 •3,513 90 88.702 24.071; 112.773

28 24 171 /ge 33,927 34.723

4.323 25.930 . .720 32.548 B.5,753 118.301

825 3.035 121 1.665 10,259 8.781 19,040

228 . . 228 160 408

j  21.6/0 13,709 1.930 1.298 53,481 46.504 100,075

11,156 14.734. 26 330 249 70.095 1,428. 77.523

i  2.099 24.535 79.216 , 13.061 ■■28,374 1.420 129.794
> 24.595 48.695 - 48.895

458.408 385.317 19 742 25 1.539,481 164.162 1,753.623
11.721.070 11.007 27.540 2.053' 17.327.043 -

17.327 043
39.368 89.366

1X343.415 3.070,448 058.791 083.000 27.639,903 2,031.200 2P,67'i.l71

981,053 225.648. 48.415 50.194 2.031.266 12.031.266)

' $ 14.330.468 S  3.296.034 S  7C7.206 i  733.194 S 29.671.17,1 S S 26.671,171

See Notes to Consolidated Financial.Statamenu
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SgRVTCES. INC. AMD RELATED COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MAY31.2021

Horn* Enersy
Pfoqfgms

Education

and

Nutrition

Homalasa

Programs

Pavml '
Payrol laxes
Em(luyub bu'i^liU '
Rclrcmont "

Adu«rtising
Eark cnargos

Cnmpulsr cost

Contractual

DeprecaaUon
Oi^'iu'gisiration
OupkcaUrtg
IrKfurwice

intaresi

Meeting nn.-i cot^ference
Miscslansous oxponse

Miscettaneous taxes

E(^t^:xn«(^t pure! taws
Offt'xoxponso

Postage
Prolessldnal Iocs

Stall developrnent and irair^ng
Su&sc^tlons
Telephone

Tisvsl

vcrtw

Reri'
Space costs
Dlrecl cBan^ assistance
ln-<ind expenses

-  TOTAL FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES BEFORE

GENERAL AND MANAGEMENT-ALLOCATION

/VSocailon ol ntanagomcr.t and general expenses

TOTAL FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

456.387 $  .1,518.514 4$ 491.034

2.5.874 108.568 - 37.00.5

171.270 '361.388 144.229

32.604 65.7/6 24,671

3,100 336

10 1.130

223 28.110 12.051

1,007,401 12.604 ; 42.954
26.43fi 117,907

2,290

63'' 8.163

5,339 -15.035 33.433

6.966 5.963

2,863 1,242

383 3,330 .

I9.IXI4 1/,4/ij - 60.8/2

300 . 36S - 126

1.050 3.300

3.400 -1,327 1G5

2,423 3.166' 20.632

-6.104 12.326 7,212

6.14/

:),7fifl.549

6,559,4U/

662.161

4.17'J

24,ess

122.478

17fl.70?
C5,4ti

2.629.099

284.763

1.748

384.093

4.120,109

S.516.5C2

597.5C4

Economic

Housing Devalopmant Other

Ssrvices Services Programs

726.103 S  -350.S43 S  439.136

43,514 .30,240 33.024

263,870 55,553 180.793

51.308 20.760 -.4.238

1.295 1.038

4.109 11

7,765 16.171 •

61,431 •  580 48.737

003.938 7,020

320 543

57,881 15,293 6.890

48.121 1.690

840 154 133

82,239 9.546 1.359

101,2?4 -

6,521 -

11.834 2.568 749

37 348 •

38.627

2;4«8 014 1.185

98 -

18.672 2.299 1,117

9.515 16.336 -

41.329 35,941 9.852

- 21.112 -

718.703 16.731 114

12.971 74.399 3.782

-  2.913 953 t)2l.784 759.430

315.616 67.347 81.221

Managenient

Total and 2021

Program and General Totai

S c.01i;067 i  752.116 $  4.763.183

' 276.033 120,497 396:530

1,197.703 46.508 1.244,211

229.357 66.965 ■ 206.X.:2

e.4-,9 133 6,552

5.260 8,706 14,026

64,322 183.132 247.454

1,174,007 59,518 1,233.526

755.903 153.192 909,155

3,153 8.819 11.772

8.223 4.588 . 12.81/

134.123 43.490 177,616

61./4U 113.018 175.667

1.127 1.037 2.764

97.248 2,675 99.924

101.224 300 131.524

10.237 2,808 13.043

112.586 49.5/9 162.165

1,179 31.999 33.178

42,977 ■ 81.024 124.011

9.185 17.341 26,528

98. ■ 2.7€7 2,365

48,515 47,535 96.050

51,497 5.675 57,172

99.187 -3.U12 103,099

45.771 45.771

1.242.119 139,958 1,382.087

6,135,012 0,13.5,512
65.414 65.414

17.99.1.2t>5 1.34S.672 19.030.937

r.948.672 11.948,872)

S 6.ieiJ52 S 2.013,662 S 6.nx.0C6 S 3.229.569 689.131 £31.711 $ 19.939.937 S 19.939.937

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemenu
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SQlJTHwLtERN COMMUNITY SERVICES-INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS.
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

2022 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in nel assets
Adjuslmerits to reconcile change in net assets to
nel cash from operating activities;
Depreciation
toss on sale of property
Loss on investment in limited partnerships
Forgiveness of debt

Decrease (increase) in assets:
Accounls receivable, net.

Prepaid expenses
Due from related parties

Security .deposits
(Decrease) increase in liabilities;

Accounts payable'
Accrued expenses
Accrued' payroll and payroll taxes
Other current liabilities '

Refundable advances

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

cash FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sate of-property
Purchase of property

NET CASH USED IN iNVEStiNG ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Process from long term debt
Repayment of long term debt
Proceeds from Economic. Injury Disaster Loan

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES ,

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH, BEGiKlNING OF YEAR

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH TRANSFERRED:

FROM LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH, END/OF YEAR

'$ 668.562 $ 265.060

989.773 '  909.155

•M.836 •

43.771 60.897

(90.60,9) (518.501)

38.041 (580.504)

(181.362) 31,348

7.572 3,929

(5.243) (2.242)

(32.551) 22.045 ̂

59.036 36.929'

109.783 15.609

10.118 (300)
..789.667 439.518

2,421.394 682i943

3.840'

. (831.642) (432.400)

.  ,(827.802) (432,400)

85.000

(155.021) (272.062)
. 150.000

(155.021) (37:062)

1.438.571 213.481

3.194.682 2.210.050

771.151

$  4-.633.253 '.$ 3,194.682

\

See Notes,to Consolidated Financial Statements
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snilTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVJCES. INC. AND RELATEDXOMPANIES

consolidated statements of cash flows (CONTINUED)
■FOR THE.YEARS ENDED MAY 3'l. 2022 AND;2Q2i:

2022 2021

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION f
S  176.903 $ 175.005

Cash paid dunng the year for interest

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH: - 3153976 $ 1 722 941
Cash and cash equivalents , ^ ^ 1 479 277 l'47l'74l
Cash escrow and reserve funds ^ : : = '

Toial cash and .reslrlced.cash - ' , ^ S 3.194.682
SUPPLEMENTAL'piSCLOSURES OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Property financed by long term debt ^ 595.015 $
Transfer of assets from newly consolidated LPs; fi - $ 36 807

Prepaid expenses . , . 3.382.003
Land and buildings 624 491
fFumiture and fixtures ^ 33 781
Security deposits ^ —

Total transfer of assets from newly consotidated LPs
$  4.077.082

Transfer of liabilities from newly consolidated LPs:. « 57 nR5
-Accounts payable ^ , 7-
Accrued expenses' . \ 890 298'
Long terni debt' : ' '

•  e t' 1 QQ4 285
Total transfer of liabilities from newly consolidated LPs 2 1 2 l.:—:

ff . - £ 2 853 948total partners'capital from newly consolldaled.LPs • ' ' •
. . . ' _ ; :297

Partner' capital previously recorded as investment in related parlies
S  S 2 854 245Total transfer of.pariners' capital from newly .consolidated LPs 5 ^

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



SOUTHWEStERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

L

NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General

Southwestern Connmunity Services. Inc. is a New Hampshire nonprofit corporation
formed as an umbrella corporation that offers an array of services to the."elderly,^

^  disabled;-and low-incorne households in the Cheshire and Sullivan counties of
New Hampshire, Various programs provide assistance in the areas of education,
child development, employment, energy and its conservation, Housing, and
honielessness prevention. Services are provided thrpugh> Southwestern
Community Sen/ices,- Inc.,- and its related corporations, SCS' Management
' dorppratibn, SCS Housing; Inc., SCS Development Corporation; SCS Housing
Development, Inc.,, and--various limited partnemhips, as described'below. The
Organization, is committed to providing respectful support services and'assisting
individuals, and families in-achieving self-sufficiency by helping thern overcome the
causes'pf poverty. The primary source of revenues is derived frorri'gpverrifnenta!
contracts. ;

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial, statements include the accounts of Southwestern
Community Services; IncTand the following entitles (collectively fhe piganEation)
as Southwestern Community Services,* Inc. .has both an econorriic'interest and
control of the entities through a majority voting interest in their governing board.
All significant intercompany Items and transactions have been eliminated from the
basic consolidated financialstatements.

• SC.S- Management Corporation '
SCS'Housing, Inc.*
SCS Develpprnent Corporation
SCS Housing Development, Inc.
DreWsville Carriage House Associates, Limited Partnership (Drewsville) ̂
Troy Senior Housing. Associates, Limited Partnership (troy Senior)
Keene East Side Senior Housing Associates, Limited Partnership (Keene
East Side) -
Winchester Senior Housing Associates, Lirriited Partnership (Winchester)
Swanzey Township Housing Associates, Limited Partnership (Swanze'y)
Snow Brook Meaddw Village Housing Associates, Limited Partnership
(Show Brook)
Keene Highland. Housing Associates, Limited Partnership (Keene Highland)
Warwick Meadow Housing Associates. Limited Partnership (Warvyick)

Basis of Accounting

The cdnsolidated financial statements of. the Organization have been prepared
utilizing the accrual basis'of-accounting in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles; .

10



.nnMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RFI ATFD COIViPANIES

NOTES TO consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENT^
FOR THE YEARS ENDED IVIAV 31, 20212.AND 2021

L

Basis of Presentation j ■
The consolidated financial statements of the Organization :have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (US GAAP),'
which .require the Organization to report, information regarding .its financial
position and activities according to the. following- net asset classifications. The
classes of net assets are determined by the presence or absence of donor-
imposed restrictions.

Net assets without donor restrictions: Net assets .that 'are. not subject to
■ dohor-imposed.'-restrictions' and may 'be- expended--fo'' -any- purpose in
performing the primary objectives'of the Qrganifation. These, net assets may
be used at the discretion of the Organization's.Boafd of^Directbfs.

Net assets with donor restrictions: Net assets subject to, stipulations imposed
by donors and grantofS; Some donor restrictions' are temporary in nature,
those restrictions W\\\ be met by actions of the" Organization or by passage of
tirhe. Other donor restrictions are perpetuaNnmature, whereby the donor has
stipulated the funds be maintained in perpetbity.,

3iT: 2027¥bd;Wi; WOi^jzatio^ "donor
rfistrictions and with donor restrictions. . . ..

The financial statements include certain prior-year sunrimarized comparative
Information in total but not by net asset class. Such information does pot include
sufficient detail to constitute .a presentation in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles. Accordingly, such information .should be read in conjunction
.with, the Organization's financial statements for the year ended May 3,1. 2021 from
which.the summarized information was deriyed.,

Refundable Advances . . . ...
The Organization records grant and corifract reyenUe as refundable advances until
it is expended for the purpose of the grant or contract, at which time it is recognized
as revenue;

In-kind Support . . . . ■ i
The Organization records various types of in-kind, support including professional
services and materials.' Contributed prbfessiohaJ,.'servjces .are recognized if the
service, received creates or enhances-long-lived assets pr're.quires specialized skill,
are provided by individuals possessing those skills,, and vyould typically need to be
purchased if hot provided by donation. Cohtributioiis Of tangible assets are
recognized at fair value when received.

11



SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

NOTES to CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

Estimates

The presentation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles .requires management to make estimates-and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of-the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes,of the-statement of cash flows."the Organization considers all liquid-
investments purchased with original "maturities of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are "stated at the amount nhanagement expects to collect from
balances outstanding at year end. Balances that are still outstanding ^after
management has used reasonable collection efforts are written off through a
charge to the valuation allowance and a credit to accounts receivable. The
allo\vance. for yncollectib.le ,accounts^was,estimated tp^ be^zero_at May 31. 2022.
The allowance for uricdirectibie accounts was approximately $3,600 for the year
ended May.31. 2021. The Organization has no policy for charging interest on

" overdue accounts.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Organization maintains its cash accounts in several financial institutions,
which at times may exceed federally insured limits. The Organization has not
experienced any losses in such accounts and believes it is not exposed to any
significant risk with respect .to these accpunts.

Current Vulnerabilltv Due to Certain Concentrations

The Organization is operated In a heavily regulated environment, The operations
of the Organization are- subject to the administrative directives;, rules and
regulations of federal', state and local regulatory agencies: Such administrative
directives, rules and regulations are subject to change by an act of Congress or
Legislature. Such changes may occur yvith little notice or inadequate fundihg to
pay for the related cost, Including the additional administrative burden,-to comply
with a change. For the.years ended May 31. 2022 and 2021, approximately 80%
and 71%, respectively, of the" Organization's total revenue was received from
government agencies. The future nature of the Organization is dependent upon
continued support from the government.

12



SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COIVIPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ■
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

Property and Depreciation

Purchased property and equipment are .stated at cost, at the date of acquisition
or at fair -value- at, the date of receipt in the case of donated property. The
Organization-generaliy-capitalizes and depreciates all assets with a cost greater
thari $5,000 and an expected life greater than ,one .year. Depreciation is provided
for using the straight-line method in amounts designed to amortize the cost of
the assets over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings and improvements 1 p - 40 Years
Vehicles'and equipment " ' Sr IO Years
Furhiture and fixtur.es 7 Years

The use of certain assets- is specified under the terms of grants received from
agencies of the federal govemment. These grants also place liens on certain
assets and impose restrictions on the use of funds received from the disposition
of the property. Depreciation expense for the years ended May 31.-2022 and 202t
totaled $989,773 and $909,155, respectively.

Adveftisirig
;The Organization expenses advertising costs as incurred.

Income Taxes

Southwestern Gommunity Sen/ices. Inc. and SOS Management Corporation are
exempt from Fedefal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code, and are not private foundations. As such, they are exempt from
income-tax on their exempt function incorne.

SC.S Housing, Inc., SCS Development Corporation and SGS HousingBeveldpment,
Inc. are taxed .as corporations. SCS Housing Inc. has federal net operating loss
canyfonvards' available for the May 31. ,2022 and "2021 tax returns totaling
$1,252,122 and $1,230,191, respectively. These loss eai;ryfprwards'may be offset
against future taxable income and, if not, used, will begin to expire in 20,27. SCS
Develophieht Corporation has federal net operating loss carryfprvyards totaling $513
and $542 at .May 31. 2022 and 2021. respectively. These loss, carryforwards rhay be

■ offset against future-taxable income and, if not used, will begin to expjre in ■2022.
SCS' Housing bevejoprhent. Inc., has- federal net operating, loss carryforwards
totaling $55,129 and $5,9,861 at May 31. 2022 and 2021,.respectively. These loss
carryfon/vards may be offset against future taxable income and, if not used, will begin
to expire in 2035. . -

13
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SOUTHWEStERN COMMUNltV SERVICES. INC.,AND RELATED GQIVIPANIES

NOTES TO GONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31; 2022 AND 2021

The tax effects of the carryforwards as related, to,deferred tax assets.is as
follows as of May 31, 2022 and.2021:

2022 202*1

Tax benefit from loss carryforwards
Valuation allbwance

Deferred tax asset,-

$274,630
f274.630V

.$271,025
(271.0251

t

Drewsvljle, Troy Senior. Winchester, Ke'ene East Side, Swanzey, Snow Brook,
Keene Highland, and Warwick are taxed as partnerships. Federal income taxes are
not payable by, or provided for these, entities. Earnings and losses are included in
the partners' federal income, tax returns' based on their share of partnei^ship
earnings; Partnerships are required to file Incdrrie tax'returns with the'State of New-
Hairipshire and pay an income tax at the state's statutory rate.

Accounting Standard Codification No. 740, "Accounting for-lncorhe Taxes,"
established the minimum threshold for recognizing, apd a system for measuring,
the,.,benefits, of tax. returri _p.osiljons, J,q. .finariciaf/.statejiients:. .Management ,has.
analyzed the Organization's tax position taken ori its income tax returns for all
open years, and has concluded that no additional, provisioti for income taxes is
necessai7 in the Organization's financial statement's.

\

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

TASB ASC Topic No. 820-10, Financial Instr'urhents, pt'ovides a definition of fair
value which focuses on an exit price father than an entry price, establishes a
-framework in generally accepted accounting- pnriciples for measuring fair-value
which emphasizes that fair value is.a market-basdd measurement, not an entity-
specific measurement, and requires" expanded disclosures about fair value
measurements. In accordance With ASC 820-10, the Organization may use
vajuatipn techniques consistent with market, income and cost approaches to
rfieaSufe fair value. As a basis for considering, market participant ass.urnptidns in
fair value rfieasurements, Topic 820-10 establishes a fair value hierarchy, vyhjch
prioritizes- the inputs used jn measuring fair'values. The hierarchy gives the
highest pridfity to Level 1 measurefnents and the lowest priority to Level 3
rneasufements. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC Topic
820-10 are described as follows: ^

Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology .are quoted prices available in
active markets for identical investments as of the reporting date.

Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are-other"than quoted market
prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as
of the reporting date, and fair value .can be detemiined through the use of
models or other valuation methodologies.
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SOUTHWESTERN COMIVIUNITY SERVICES INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31..2022 AND 2021

Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodolpgy are unobservable-inputs in
situations where there is little or no maiicet activity for the asset or liability and
the reporting entity .makes estimates and assumptions related to the pricing of
the asset or liability including assumptions regarding, risk.

■The carrying amount, of cash, accounts receivables, prepaid expenses, accounts,
payable, accrued,^ expenses, and refundable advances approximates fair value
because of the short maturity of those instruments-.

Support and Revenue Recognition - — -

Contracts with Customers
Program fees are reported'at the amount that reflects, the consideration to'which
the-Organization expects to be entitled for providing childcare .setVices to. its
clients.

Generally, the Orgahlzatioh: bills customers and third-party payors several days
■after the services ..are' 'performed. Revenue is. recognized as performance
obligations are satisfied...Performance obligations are determined based oh,the
naiure^of the services provided by the Orgahizatlbrt. The Ofganlzatlon "measures
the pcrforrhance obligations of its childcare services to the point when it is no
longer required, to .provide'services to the client, which is generally^ weekly for
childcare. services; These services are considered to be. a single performance
obligation.

Revenue for performance o.bligations satisfied at a point in tirne^ is recognized
when services are. provid'ed, and the Organization does not believe it is-required to
provide additional services to the cll'eht.

\

Based on the nature of services-provided by the Organization and due to the fact
that: all of the Organization's'perforrhance obligations related to contracts witrt a
duration of less than one year, the Organization has elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in-FASB ASC■606-10-50-14(3).and, therefore Is-inot required
to disclose the aggregate- .amount of "the transaction price allocated to
performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied at,the end of
the reporting period.

The transaction price for .childcare services Is based on standard charges for
services provided to clients.. Under the terms, of the State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and" Human Services childcare subsidy programs,
reimbursement for childcare-services provid'ed may differ from established rates. It
is the Organization's policy to set its, rates to -be consistent' with: current
reimbursement-rates. Therefore,, amounts due do not include significant-variable
consideration subject to retroactive revenue adjustments due to. settlement of
reviews and audits.
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SOUTHWESTERN GQIVIMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2022 AND 2021

Private Grant-Revenue and Contributions

Private grant dontribulions are recbgnized when cash, securities or other
assets, an unconditional promise to give, or notification of-a beneficial interest is-
repeived. Conditionahpfomises to give are. not recognized until the conditions on
which they depend have been substantialiy met; Support that is restricted by the.
donor is reported as an increase in net assets without, donor restrictions, if the
restriction expires in the reporting period in which the'support is recognized. All
other donor-restricted support is reported as an increase in net assets with
donor restrictions, depending on the nature of the restriction. When a restriction
expires, (that is-, when a stipulated time-restriction ends or purpose-restriction is
accomplished), net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets
without donor restrictions and reported in the combined statements of activities
as net 'assets released from restrictions.

Grants and Support

Grant revenue is derived from various federal grant agreements and various
state, and private entity passthrough grant agreements and contracts to provide
funding support of the Organization's programs and services provided by the
Grganiiation- including childcafe; child develdpmeht.."SOcial. health, -nutritioji,

"^employrh"eht71ahguage7eh^fg specialn^eds^services^^ enrolled
in the Organization's programs, The Organization has evaluated its grant
agreements against applicable accounting standard guidance and determined
that the- grant agreements are contributions - (nonreciprocal transaction)
conditioned, upon certain perforrnance fequirerhents and/or incurrence of
allowable qualifying expenses. Amounts received are recognized as revenue
when the Organization has incurred expenses in. compliance with specific
provisions of the grant agreements.

(

Rental Revenue

The Organization derives revenues from the rental of apartment units.
Revenues are recognized as income, monthly., when rents becomerdue and
control of* the. apartment units is transferred to the lessees. The individual
leases are for a term of one year and are cancelabie by the tenants. Control of
the leased units- is transferred to the lessee, in am^amount that reflects the

consideration the Partnership expects to be entitled to in exchange for 'the
leased units. The cost incurred to obtain a lease willibe expensed,as incurred.
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED GOMPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021.

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been
summarized on a functional basis. .Natural expenses are defined by their nature,
such as salaries, rent, supplies, etc. Functional expenses are classified by the"
type of "activity for which expenses are incurred, such as management and
general and direct program costs. Expenses are allocated by function using a
reasonable and consistent approach thal is primarily based on function and use..
The costs of providing certain, program and supporting services have been
directly charged.

The Organization submits an indirect cost.rate proposal for the paid leave, fringe
benefits and other indirect costs-to the 'U.S. Department of Health and Human
services., The indirect: cost rate js 12% effective from June 1, 2021 through May
31.2022.

NOTE 2 BANK LINE OF CREDIT
The Organization has a.$25,0.000 revolving line of credit.agreement with a bank.
Int^est is due monthly and is'jstated at.the-Wall Street JournaJ'Prime Rate or at_a
floor 'fate o7 4%-. the lineleTsecured'^By^^ tBe'Organizatioh's aesets. As of K/lay
31, 2022 and 2021., the: lnterest.rate^.was.4%. There was. no.outstanding balance,
at May 31. 2022 and 2021..

NOTE 3 LONG TERM DEBT

The. long farm debt consisted^ of the 'following at May 31:

1% mortgage payable to New-Hampshire Housing
in monthly installments for principal and interest of
$891 through August 2032. The note is .secured by
real,: estate of the Organization (,NHH, 96 Main
Street). $

Non-interest bearing rhortgage payable to
Corhmunity Development Finance .Authority, in
quarterly principal payments based oh an'operating
income formula applied- to^ affordable housing"
portion of the specified real .estate; The note, is
secured by real estate of the Organization (CDFA,
96 Main Street).

2022 2021

117,535 $ 127.000

25,589 27,589
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

NOTES TO CdNSOLIDATEb FINANCIAL STATEMENTS,
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

2022 2021

Non-interest bearing mortgage payable to New-
Hampshire Housing.- Payrhenl is deferred for 30
■years, through 'September2031, or until project is
-sold or refinanced, The note is secured by- real
estate of the Organization (NHH. 17 Pearl). 242,708- 242,708

Non-interest bearing mortgage payable to New
Hampshire Housing. Payment is deferred for 30
years, through July 2032, iunless there-is-surplus
cash from which to.make a payment, or unlil .project
is sold or refinanced. The note is secured by real
estate of-the Organization (NHH, 41-43 Central). 376,066 376,066

4.25% mortgage payable to a bank jri monthly
installments for priricipal and interest of- $1,875
through December 2016, with a balloon payment
that was due January 2017- The note was
amended during-the year ended'May'31; 20t9v and'

"is now due December"2b26. Under the amehdm^
interest rate is 4.94% ahd monthly installments for
principal and interest-are $1,957 The note is
secured by real estate of the Organization
(People's United Bank, Milestones). 94;456 112,702

4.375% note payable to Rural Housing Service in
irionlhly iiislallnients for principal and interest of
$11,050 through. May 2049. The note is secured by
real estate of the Organization (TD Bank, Keene
Office). 2,095,301 2,134,970

Non-interest bearing note payable to Cheshire
County in New Hampshire. Payment is not
necessary unless Orgariization defaults on contract.
The note is secured by real estate- of the
Organization (CDBG., Keene Office). 460,000 460,000
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND REi ATED COMPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED financial STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

2022 2021

Note payable to a bank in monthly installments for
principal and interest o'f $2,463 includihg interest
through May 2039, Interest is adjusted every five
years based on remaining principal balance and
"Classic Advantage Rete" provided ,by Federal
Home Loan Bank of Boston which resulted in an
interest rate of 4.67% at May 31, 2022 and 2021.
The' note is secured by real estate -of the
Organization (TD Bank; Keene^ Office/Community
Way). 362,931 376.617

Non-interest bearing, note payable to the' United
I States- Department of Housing arid IJrban
Development. No payment is dcie and beginning in
January 2015 10% of the note is'forgiven each year
providing the property is used for low income;
housing; through January 2025. The note is

■ secured, by xeaL estate^^ the Organi^iori (HUD,
Ashuelot). 50,000 75,000

Nonnnterest bearing note payable to the United
.States Department of Housing and Urban
Development. No payment is due and beginning' in
January 2015 10% of the note^is forgiven each year
providing the property,^ is used for low-income ^
housing through January 2025. The hote is secured
by real estate of the' Organization (HUD, 112
ChaVlestown Road). . 30,000 45,000

Non-interest bearing note payable to . New.
Hampshire; Housing in annual payments in the'

■amount of 50% of annual surplus'cash through. J.uly-
2042 at which time the rertiaining balance is due.
The note is secured by real estate of the
Organization (NHH, Second Chance). 7941189 794.189

Non-interest bearing- note payable to a county in
New Hampshire. No payment is due and 5% "of the
balance is forgiven each year through 2032. when
the remaining balance becomes due. The note, is
secured by real estate-of the Organization (CDBG,
Second Chance). - 296,217 311.808
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

r

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED -MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

2022 2021

Non-interest bearing note payable to a county in ^
New Hampshire, relating to an agreement, between
the City of Keene and SCS fpr ,the. purpose of
renovating Keene-shelters'! In total, SCS will receive
$472,000 from CDBG. The agreement was
amended during the year ended, May 31, 2022 to-
increase the total loan to .$652;091. SCS will
receive the funds as progress is made. The note is
secured by-real estate'OTthe-Organization and Will
be full^ forgiven providing the facility serves low-
and moderate-income individuals for 20 years ^
(Keene Shelters). " 629,280 127,215,

5.54% note payable to a finance company in
monthly-, installrhents for principal and interest of ■

$543 through August 2022. The.'note is secured by
a vehicle (Ally. Econoline Van): 1,581 7,815

2.99% rioTe" 'payable to a 'barilr^'in fnorithly
installments for principal and interest of $820
through May 2031. The note, is, sdcured by reah
estate of the Organization (Savings Bank of
Walpole, .45 Central Street). 76,974 84,395

Non-interest bearing note payable .to the City of
Keene, New Hampshire. The note expires in-June
2022 and. payment is. not. necessary unless the
Organization, defaults on contract.. The note is
secured by real estate of the Organization (City of
Keene, 139 Roxbury Street). 77,100 77,100

Non-interest bearing note payable to, the City of
Keene, New Hampshire, with an. original balance of,
$240,000 reduced to $204,000 when .the
Organization acquired the note from Keepe
Housing In July 2020. No.payment is due and 5%
of the balance is forgiven each year through June
2037. The note is'' secured by real estate of the
Organization (City of Keene, 139 Roxbury Street). 192,000 204.000

3.575% note payable to- a firiance company in.
monthly installments for principal and interest of
$650 through September 2026. The note is secured
by a vehicle (Leaf, Dodge Ram). 30,888
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENtS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

2022 /2021

3.75% note" payable to .a finance company in ^
monthly instaljments for principal and interest of
$530 through November 2026. The note is secured'
by a vehicle (Leaf, Promaster Van). 25.960

4.373% note payable to a finance company in
monthly installments for principal and interest of
$534 through December 2026. The note is secured
by a vehicle (Leaf, Promaster Van). 26,576 . ...

Troy Senior -NonTihterest bearing note payable to
a county iri New Hampshire. Payments are deferred
until the note nriatufes in June 2629., The .note: Is
secured by real estate of the Organization (CDBG). 640.000 640,0,00

Troy Senior 7-Non-interest bearing note payable to
New Hampshire Housing Finance Authority to fund^ ■
energy efficient improvements through the.
Aathority's' Green'eT ':HomPs~Prcrgi-am7~Payment'"ls " ' ™ '
deferred for 30 years, through August 2042. ThV
note is. secured! by real, estate of the- Organization
(NHH). 140.210 140,210

Keene East Side - Non-interest bearing note
payable to a county in New Hampshire. Payments
are deferred' .until the notev.matures in- December

2028. The note is secured by: real estate of the •.
Organization (CDBG). - 9.00,000 900,000

Keene East Side - Non-interest bearing note
payable, to New Hampshire Community
Development Finance.-Authority (CDFA) to fund
energy upgrades and capital improvements'.
Beginning in 2016. 10% of Ihe note is forgiven each
year -based on the rolling balance. The mortgage
may be released, after ten years in January 2026,
The note is secured by real estate of the
Organization (CDpA). 116,841 139,860
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND-2621

2022 2021

Keene East Side - Non-interest faring note
•payable to New Hampshire Housing to fund energy
efficient improvements through the Authority's
Greener Homes Program. Payment is deferred for
30 years, through August 2042. The note is
■secured by real estate of the Organization (NHH). 228,934 228,934.

Swanzey - Non-recourse, 4.90% sirnple interest
hnoTlgage note payable to the New Hampshire ' ■
Housing (HOME), due September, 2033. pfiricipal .
and interest payable at the sole discretion of the
fender- frorh the excess cash of .'the .borrower
determined by formula, secured by the
Partnership's land and buildings, subject to low
income housing use restrictions for the 30 year
term of the mortgage. 286,530 287,710

■Swanzey Non-re,co,urse^moft9age..n.ote,-p,ay.able-to.
New Hampshire Housing (AHF),.!d'ue September
2043, payable in monthly installments of $1 ;698,
including interest at 2.35% ■ secured by the
Partnership's land and buildings, subject to low
income housing use restrictions for the 40 year
term of the mortgage. - 341.364 353,561

Snow Brook' - Non^recourse, mortgage note
payable to New Harnpshire Housing, due July
2057, payable in monthly installments of $2,002
including interest -at 4.35% secured by the
Partnership's land and. buildings, subject to low '
income, hpusirig use restrictions,for the 30 year
term of themortgage. 43ti8'59 436,974

Snow.-Brook- Non-recourse, zero, ifiterest mortgage
riote payable to New Hampshire Housing, (AHF),
due June 2034, principal and interest payable at i.
the sole discretion of the lender from the excess .
cash of the borrower determined by formula,
secured by the Partnership's land and buildings,
subject to low income housing use restrictions for
the 30 year term of the mortgage. 237,173 237,173
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2022 2021

Winchester - Non-recourse rnortgage note payable
to New Hampshire Housing, (AHF), due May 2032,
payable in monthly installments of $370, including
interest at 2.00%, secured by the Partnership's land
and buildings, subject to low income housing use
restrictions for the 30 year term of the mortgage
note (NHH). 39.850 • 43.450

Winchester - Non-recourse,-zero interest'bearing ■
mortgage-note-payable to New Hampshire Housing
(FAF), due May 2032, payable at the sole, discretion
of the lender from ttne excess cash of the borrower - ^ ■
-determined. ; by fo.rmula, secured by- the ' . -
Partnership's land and buildings, subject to low
income housing use restrictions for the 30-year
term of the mortgage note (NHH). 77,452 79,609

.J(Vin9hest^er_;^,Non-rec^^^ zero interest tpearirig.
direct™ subsidy "'ahp'" "15^" securecl By the
Partnership's land and buildings, subject to,, low-
income housing restrictions, under the terms' of the
AHP agreement; In,the event'of a default under the
aforementioned, agreement, the loan is due upon'
demand with interest accrued at a rate of 11.67%
for the period the funds were outstanding (Federal
Home-Loan Bank). - 150,000 150,000

Keene Highland - Non-recourse mortgage note
payable to :New Hampshire Housing (AHF), due
August 20'35,. payable, in monthly installments of
$3,122. including interest at 2.90%i secured by the
Partnership's land ^and buildings, subject to low.
income housing use restrictions for the 30 . year _
term, of the mortgage note (NHH). 409,579 434,76

Keene Highland - 30 year, zero interest, nom
recourse deferred, rnortgage note payable to the
Qity of keene. New.- Hampshire due June 2035,
payment of, principal is deferred until the due date, _
secured by land and buildings (City of Keene). 915,000 915,000
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

2022 2021.

Warwick - 30 year, zero interest, non-recourse
deferred mortgage note payable to the Town of
Winchester, New Hampshire due August 2036,
payment of principal is deferred until the due date,
securdd by land and buildings (Town" of
Winchester). 500.000 500.000

Total long-term debt before unamortized deferred
fina'ncing costs - -- -- - — - ■i-i 420;i"43 " 11,071.420

IJnamortized deferred financing costs (16.957) (17,619)

11.403,186 ■ 11,053,801
Less current portion due within one year 159.974 142.174

S11.243.212 $10.911.627

Ib.e-Schedule. of maturi.li.es.pf long terrn debt at May.31,2022 is. as follows;

Year Ending
May 31 Amount
2023 $ 159,974
2024 164.282
2025 170,410
2026 176,786
2027 159,624

Thereafter 10.589.067

Total $11.420.143

NOTE 4 ECONOMIC INJURY DISASTER LOAN
During June 2020, the Organization received an Economic Injury Disaster Loan
(EIDL); ,from the Sniall Business Administration with proceeds in the. amount of
$150,000. The EIDL is payable over 30 years at an interest rate of 2.75% with a
.deferral of payments for 30 months from the date of the note. Installments, including
principal and interest, of $641 monthly begin in .Deceniber 2022. The balance of
principal and interest will be payable in Decernber 2052. The loan is secured by
the Small Business Administration.
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The scheduled maturities of the EIDL as of May 31. 2022 were as follows:

Year.Ending
May 31

2023

2024

2025

2026

2027

-Thereafter

Amount

S  3.585
-3.685

3,788

3,893
4.001

■■131.048-

N0TE 5 FORGIVENESS OF DEBT
During the years ended May 31. ,2022 and -2021. the Organization realized
forgiveness of debt Income in connection with notes .payable to Community
Development Block Grant. HUD .and" ■Community development Finance
Authority. Forgiveness of debt income totaled $90,609 and $79,431 for the

^'""ydars ended May 317'2W2arid.'262T. fesp^^^^^ " - ' ' "

■ The'Organization recognized-forgiveness pf-debt-of $439,070 related to the
Paycheck Protection Program during the year ended May 3T, 2021. See
additional detail at Note 16.

NOTE 6 OPERATING LEASES
The Organization leases facilities,'equipment and vehicles under non-cancelable
lease agreements at various financial institutions. Lease periods range from
month to month to 2027'. Monthly lease payments range from SGOO.to $3,625.
Lease expense for the years ended May 31, 2022 and 2021 totaled $156,230
and $148,143, respectively.

Future-minimum payments, as of May 31, 2022 on the above leases, are as
follows:

/-■

Year Ending
May 31"

2023
2024-
2025
2026. •
2027

Total, fr

Amount
S  52,915

49,500
49,481
49,959
41.576

$  243.431
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ̂
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

NOTE 7 ACCRUED COMPENSATED BALANCES

At May 31, 2022 and 2021, the Organization accrued a liability for future annual
leave timeThat its employees had earned and vested in the amount of $143,703
and. $144,916; respectively.

NOTES CONTINGENCIES

Southwestern Community Services, Inc. is the .100% owner of SOS Housing, Inc.,
and SOS Housing Development, Inc. SCS Housing, Inc. and SOS Housing

»  Development;-Inc. are the general partners of eight limited-partnerships formed
to develop lovy-income housing projects through the use of Low Income Housing
Tax Credits. Southwestern Community Services, Inc., -SCS Housing, Inc. and
SCS Housing Development, Jnc. have guaranteed repayment of liabilities of
various partnerships- totaling approximately $11,760,000'and. $11,929,000 at
May 31. 2022 and 2021. respectively.

\  '

Partnership real estate with a cost basis, of approximately $27,348,000 at May.
31, 2022 and 2021 provides collateral on these loans.

Tlie^Organization receives fund's iThdef vafidus' state grants arid from Federal"
sources. tJnder the terms of these agreements, the Organization is required to
use the funds within-a certain period and,for purposes specified.by the governing
laws and regulations. If costs were found not to have, beeh incurred in
compliance with the laws and regulations, the Organization; might be required to
repay the funds.

No provisions have been made for this- contingency because specifib; amounts, if
any, have-not been determined or assessed by government audits as of May 31,
2022 and 2021.

NOTE 9 RELATED PARTY T^NSACTIONS ,
During the years ended May 31, 2022, and 2021. SCS Housing, Inc. managed
nine and eleyeri'limited partnerships, respectively. Management fees charged by
SCS Housing, Jric. totaled $237,822 and $228,239, for the years- ended May 31,
2022 and 2021, respectively. Additionally, SCS Housing, Inc. has advanced the

^  limited partnerships funds for cash flow purposes over several years.

The Organization has also advanced funds to a related entity for Department of
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) sponsorship purposes.

The total aniounts due and expected to be collected from the limited partnerships
and related,, entities totaled $47,566 and $55,138 at May 31, 2022 and 2021,
^respectively.
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FOR TH^ YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2022 AND 2021

NOTE 10 EQUITY INVESTMENT
Southwestern Community Services. Inc. and related companies use the equity
method to account for their financial interests in the following companies;

Cityside Housing Associates, LP
Marlborough Homes, LP
Payspn Village Senior Housing Associates, LP
Railroad Square Senior Housing-Associates. LP
Woodcrest Drive'Housing Associates. LP
Westmili Senior Housing. LP -
Alstead Senior Housing Associates. LP

'  2022 2021

■$ (9;516) ' $  (9.509)
(57) '  , (43)

.(12.539) (12.524)'
(2,436) (2.247)

137.205 180.727
34 49

.f18.46t) f18'.452y

.94,230 S  138.001

SOS Housing. Development. Inc. is a 0.01%, partner of Cityside Housing
Associates.. LP, pilarlborough Homesv^ LP. Payson Village Senior-Housing
Associates,-LR..,Warwick _Mea,do.w.si_Hgusing Asso^cialtes, ,LP. . Woodcrest. .Dr:ive
Housing Associates. LP. and Alstead Senior Housing Associates. LP, a 0.10%
partner of Railroad Square Senior Housing Associates. LP; and a 1% partner of

'Westrnill SeniorHousing. LP during the years ended-;May 31, 2022 and-2021. •
/

SCS Housing, Inc. is a 0.01% partner of^Winchester Senior Housing Associates.
LP, Swanzey Township: Housing Associates. LP, Show Brook Meadow Village
Housing Associates, LP. and Keene Highland Housing, Associates. LP during, the
years ended May 31, 2022 and' 2021.

the , remaining 99.99% ownership interest in Kedne Highland Housing
Associates, LP and Warwick Meadow Housing Associates, LP were acquired by
Southwestern Community Services, Inc. during the year ending May 31. 2021
(see Note 14). and therefore the limited partnerships are included in .the
consolidated financial statements .for the years, ended: May 3t. 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO:CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

Summarized financial information for entities accounted for under the equity
method, as of May 3i. 2022 and 2021, consists of the following:

2022 2021

TotaPassets S  51.204 S  56.169

Total liabilities

Capital/f^iembef's equity

Income

Expenses

Net loss

14,923 15-.200

36,281 - 37.969

51.204 $ 53.169

$ 3,306 $ 3,267

4.713 4.719

•$ M.407V $ (1.452)

NOTE 11 RETIREMENT PLAN

The Organization maintains a tax sheltered annuity plan under the provisions of
Section .403(b) of the^ internal -Revenue Code. All employees who have had at
least SO days of service,to the Organization are eligible to contribute to the plan.
The Organization begins matching contributions after the employee has reached
one year of service. Employer contributions are at the Organization's discretion,
and totaled $310,304 and $296,322 for the years ended May 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. , '

note 12 RESTRICTIONS ON NET ASSETS
Net.assets with donor restrictions are available-for the following purposes:

NNECAC - Annual Conference Fund
,GAPS/Warm Fund
Transport
HS' Parents Association

Total net assets with donor restrictions

2022

108,508

20,000
5.844

2021

$  16,646
101,736
90;000

6.967

$  134.352 £ 215.349
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE yEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021 !

NOTE 13 BOARD DESIGNATED NET ASSETS
The board designates a portion of the unrestricted net assets for WM Marcello
GAPS funds. There was $12,792 and $1.2,790 designated by the board at May
31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

NOTE 14

During the year ended May 31 ̂ 2021, Southwestern Community. Services, Inc.
acquired a partnership interest in two low-income housing lirn'ited 'partnerships:
Keene (Highland and'Warwick. The amouht^paid Jor-the-parthership-interest Jn
Keene Highland and Warwick, was $1 each, and at the time of acquisition,
Southwestern.Community Services, inc. became the gerteral'partnen

The following is a summary of the'assets, and liabilities ;of the partnerships at the
date of acquisition:

Keene

Hiahland Warwick

Date ofTrar^fep' ' — 07/01/2020 ^.■or/or/202r

Cash
^Security deposits
Cash reserves
.Property.net
Other assets

$  156,907
21,321

391.456
2.769.245

25.946

.  68.061
12,460

154.727
1.237,249

10.861

Total assets :3.364.875 1.483.358

Notes payable
Other liabilities

1,372.220
,85.048

518.078
■18.-939

Tptal llabllities, 1.457.268 537-.6i.7

Farthers' capital 1,907,607 946,341.

Partners' capital, previpusly recorded
as an investment in related parties 269 "28

Partners' capital transferred S.1..9Q7.876. S' 946.369
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC. AND RELATED COMPANIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31. 2022 AND 2021

NOTE 15 LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY

■ The following represents Southwestern Comrtiunlty Services. Inc. and related
companies' financial assets as-of May 31, 2022 and 2021:

. 2022 2021

Financial assets at year end:
Cash and cash equiyalerits :$ 3,153,976 $  1,722,941

Accounts receivable: 1,745,952 1,783.993

Due from related party 47,566 55,138

- Gash-escrow and" reserve funds- 1-.479.277 - ■ — 1.471.741

Total financial assets 6.426.771 5.033.813

Less amounts not available to be used
within, one. year;

Due from related party
Reserve funds

Total amounts hot available'witbih one year

Financial'assets-available to-meet general
expenditures over the next twelve months

(47,566)
(1.479.277)

■S 4.

(55,138)
(1.471.741)

(1.526.843)^' • (1.526.879)

The Organization has a goal to maintain unrestricted cash on hand to meet 30
days of normal operating expenditures; which are, on average, approximately
$2,350,000 arid $1.559;000 at May 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The
Organization has a $250-,000 line of credit available to meet cash flow heeds.

NOTE 16 PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM
In . April 2020, the .Organization received loan proceeds in the amount of $439,070
under the Paycheck .Protection Program'(PPP). The PPP, is. established as part of
■the Cpronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (CARES Act). If the

,  Organization did not meet the loan criteria, the unforgiyen portion of the PPP loan is
payable over five years at an interest fate .of 1%, with-.a deferral of payments for the
first ten months. The Organization has used the proceeds for purposes consistent
with the PPP arid the PPP' loan has been forgiven-ih full. Therefore, forgiveness of
.the loan totaling $439,070 was recognized on the-Consolidated Statement, of
Activities for-the year ended May 31. 2021. '
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2022 AND 2021

NOTE 17 RECLASSIFICATiON ^ ^
Certain amounts and .accounts-from the prior year's financial statements were
reclassified to enhance comparability with the current year's financial staternents.

I

NOTE 18 OTHER EVENTS .
The impact of the novel eoronavirus (GOVlD-19) and measures to prevent its
spread are affecting the Organization's operations. The significance of the impact of
these disruptions, including the extent of their adverse impact on the Organization's
financial operational fesLilts;- Jwill be dictatdd by the length of time that such

■ disruptions continue and, in turn, will" depend on the currently unknowable duration
of the C0VID-1,9,panderhic and the impact of governmental regulations that might
be imposed in response to the pandemic. The Organization s business could also
be impacted should-the disruptions frorh'COVlD-19 lead to changes In consumer
behavior. COVlD-19 a|so. makes, it more challenging for management to estimate
future performance of the", businesses, particularly over the near to medium term.

.NOTE19> SUBSEQUENT.EVENTS. .
Subsequent everits are- events or transactions that occur after the statement of
financial, position date, but before .financial statements ,are,:available.t6 be.issued.
Recognized-subsequent events are events or transactions that provide additional

'  evidence about conditions-that existed at the statement of financial position date,,
including the estimates" inherent, in the process of preparing financial statements.
Ndnrecognized subsequent events, are events that provide evidence about
conditions that did not exist at.the statement of financial position date, but arose
after that date. Managementhas evaluated subsequent events through.February
9. 2023, the,..date the financial statements were available to be issued.

•y
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES INC. AMD RELATED COMPAKtgS

COHSOUDATEO SCHEDULE OF FUNCTIONAL REVENUES AND EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MAY 31. 2022

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT
.Gfl>»ivruT.ftnl contRctt

Program service fres
Rents! Income
fiippiwt
Spoftsufklii'--

InterKi income

rcrgtvwesssf debt
UbctftlaiiHoiA'

m-klnd'cor^tnsutiORS'

Total revenues wiij oihar vuspcrt

EXPENSES-.

P?yrdl

PeyrolltixSS
&ni>ioyes oenents
KcUrcmcni

A^ertl.slng
BfeM'5 diii'ge-i
Compi/.er cost ^
Coniraciusl

Oeorec'fltion

Oies/regisirnljon
^pliceiing
Irsurance

Irtcfcst

Lteeting and -Mnference
l/LvjifUrenu» r.xperwe
Ulscetlareous taxes

Ecuiixnent surchasas.
Olhcp cxoccss
Pcstace
Pf::Jessionsl f«s

StafI d(!v%[oiJi:iei>t and (taiimrg
Stbsciipduns
Tstaptwne
Tfas'at

VEftide

Rent )
Scaoc ccsia
Direst clior.t essistsrtoc

Ir-Kind sxcenjea

TOTAL FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES BEFORE

MANAGEMENT AND GENERAL ALLOCATION

Allocation of menagcrnent end general expenses

TOTAL FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

Home Energy
Programs

j  .e.wuofl
I.1M,537

68;^

7

10.270

Education

and ~ ^ Homeless
Nutrillon ) Programs

S 3,398.274

14,491

2

1,033.

3.920.412

93,533

. S4.046
2.34,.636

.  153
67.530

9,973

^1591163 \ S I2.'--30 3S5

r  551.449 S  1,553,713 S 801 459

45:132 127.557 49.849

137,544 3tl/.HJ<J 140,322

31.440 95.573 32.8S7

•1.066 .  12.573 428

35 . 6S3

307 18.754
X

13,310

82S.975 15.253

26.433
Z539

6.56D

87.421

\M.Qj6

•  8,123 16.523

423

'35.676
9.536
354

870 ■ 2.917 120

i«.730 3.421 ,  ,

43i01 8.735 22.754

•-90 383 28

1,075 . 4.323

. 1,866 2,887 825

5,147 3.727
f ■21,670

4.715 •8.S58 * f 11.158
9.433 - 2,099
8.000 16,300 -

21.8'J7 *205.132 [
456.408

5.338.825- 212.848
»9.3t>t:

11.724.070

7,051,780 2,826,403 13.349.415

518.226 207.720 .961.053

Housing
Services

4.791
781.840'

,1.713.405

302
73;019.
88,870

872.177
51,549

217,637
43,044

7.537
4.850
8,001

25.033
674.506

490

63.108
48.822

3.25.5
112,217
12S.976

5.378
1C.409

24
26.930

3,095
228

19.709
14.784

-24.565

B86.317
11,007

3.070,448

225.846

S  7.S69.0;6 S 3.03^i;213 , % 14.330.468 S 3.298,094

Economic Uanagemcni r
Development Olher Total and 2022

Services Proorams Program Gnnnrnt Total

S  714.190 S  225.735 5 23,851.204 S 002.370 $ 74.5A1.574
946.475 2.985.407 6.000 ' . 2.991.407

. ■ 1.707.451 20.185 1.917.636
191:342 • 120.400 fM9.l75 20,000 S65.17S

- 28.520 28.530 - 25.520
56 54 574>- 525 1.099

90.609 90.609
33,651 141,797 15,157 158.954

,  , . 89:368 V 89.358

S  930.245 5._J.32J.i22. S 664.237 / 8 30 398 340

S  340.079 S  418.924 S  4.135.811 s 458.748 1  4.997,5=9
30.490 35.545 34C.122 68.379 408,5:1

' 'i/./VS 137,liM 1,C4/.571 101.743 1.149,314

16.083 18.^ 243.710 66.594 310.334
8.801 . 30.405 5,170 35.525

.
. 5,348 9.701 15.049

14.818 . 52.100 127.747 170.948
: ■i5.W •:-02.8^ 63.330 1.050,213

3,810 335.790 150.983 989.773
508 125 3,662 11,739 15.451

_ 8.660 5.503 - 14.163
10.850 7.313 147.699 45.537 193.236

278 59.059 118.505 •.//.565
2,852 7..30n 1.535 8,939

6.388 5.102 127,414 30.514 1.58.22(1
. 129.976 •153 •.30,126

519 24.046 729 24,766
3,513 -SO 88.702 24.071 112.773

171 796 33.527 34:723
- 220 32.548 85.753 I1fl..101

121 -1,685 10.259 a,781 19.040
. 228 180 408

1.930 1.250 53.431 45,594 100,075
26,330 240 76,095 1.428 77.523
70.216 13.061 128J74 1.420 129.794
24.305 48.805 - 48.805
19.742 '  25 1.589.461 164.1W 1.753.623
37.540 2.953 17.3*J'7.043 17.327.043

• 89,366 80.366

658,791 883,000 27,639,905 2,031,286 29.071.171

48.4-.5 50.104 2.031.286 (2.031.266i

%  707.206 S  ■733.104 S 29.67'.,171 s $ 29.671.171

See Independent Auditors' Report
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CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF FUNCTIONAL REVENUES AND EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MAY 31 2021

REVENUES AND OTHER SUPPORT

Government c'onirsois

Progrem service fee
Rentet incunie

Scpson

S;o'ns.~rship
interest iiccme '

F(vg)VDno33 ot debt

fAscelianeo'^

In4ind contributions

T olal rgven'jes snc other sjppor

EXPENSES

Payroll ^
PsyroU l3*es
E:nplu-/ire btiiiefils
Redrement

Advertising
Bstk.Charges
Computer cost
Ccniraciuai
DcDroctOIion
Dues/registreiion
Oupiicating
(rwurance

Incrosi —
Meeting end coniarmcr.
MiscelUreous expense
Miscellaneous taxes ■ ~

E'dutpmont purcdiaoes
OfiCQ expense
Postage
Professional
Edtn-dcvcloorrd.-tl end tr&tning
Si*scriplinrw

Tdeplwne
Trave!

Vehicle

Rsrtt

Space costs
Dtect ct'eni assistance

In^nd exconscs

.TOTAL FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES BEFORE
GENERM. AND MANAGEMENT ALLOCATION

Aiiocotion ofmanogomo'nt snd gensrol expenses

TOTAL FUNCTIONAL ̂ PENSES

Home Energy
Proorams

S  4.63a.U4E
t.riJW.ivsft

56.162

13

1,947

s  .STin.sia

Education

and

Nutrition

$ U.l25.'J5t I S
•  i

5.559,46?

602.161

0.36? •
•  r

3.90S

05..414

Homeless

Proofoms

5.267.061

56.851

90;9S4

242,175

138

5R.411

4.613

Housing

Soiviccs

5  4.36?
846.971

1.K6.63?

383

23,02D

119.370

Economic

Development OUter

Services Proorams

795.997

180.072

22

25

776,732
127

114.194

21.703

35

59,363

Total

Prooram

13.826.118

2,708,902
1,657.741

601.672
21.703

657

79.431

16£:'.234

65,414

t 3 204.153 J 5.

I

S.71Q;15.1 t 7 5C0 449 5 970.116 S 952,155 5' 19.130.782

486,387 S  1.513.514 ■ S 491,054 S 725.103 S 350.843 S 4.39,13c S  4.011,057

2^,674 106.565 f • 37.0-35 43.514 30.248 33.024 276,033

171.270 351,383 ■ 144,229 263,970 55.553 150,793 1,197,703

32.6C-4 85.776 i 24,671 51.203 .20.760 14.2*33 2-29.357

3.103 J 356 1.295 1.638 P.419

10 \  . 1.130 4.'109 • 11 5,250-

225 28,113 ■ 2.0S1 7.765 -la.t/i 64.322

;i.007.4C'l 12.804 } '42.054 61.431 660 48.737 1.174.007

-26,435 I
2.293

•117,937 603.933 7.820 7.55;93,3
_ 323 . 543 3,153

69 8,163 - -
6.229

5.530 16.C35 33.453 57.381 15.298 6.890 134.128

5.255 S.953 48.171 1.690 61,749

. 840 -.54 133 1,127

2,863 1.242 62.239 9.546 1,253 97.249

. . 101.224 101.224

386 3.333 . 6,521 10.2-37

19.054 17.475 60,872 11.634 2.588 743 112.560

3C0 265 5 126 37 348 1.179

1,050 1.327 \
3.330 ■J8.627 42,977

3,4Gfi 165 2.488 614 1,185 9,185
98 - - 98

2.429 3,106 j 20.692 13.872 2.299 1.117 48.515

• 6.104 12.32S 1 7,212 9.515 15.328 31.497

6,147 4,170 1 1,748 41.229 35.941 9.552 99,187
24.555 1 . 21.112 45,771

122.478 ( 384.003 718.703 13,721 114 1,242,119
3.768.549 179.702 4.126.109 12.071 24.399 3./8'2 g.125,512

65.414 - -
65.414

2.629.399 )

284.763 '

,5.516.502

597:504

2,913.653

315.616

621.724

67.347

750.430

81.281

S 6,161.658 $ 2.9liS62 r S 6.114.006 S 3.229.66S t 589.131 S_ 831.711 S 1g.9;9.93/

ManagetnenI
and General

625.3/9

17.99-,,265

1.948.672.

66

2021
Total

14.451.437
2.708.902
1,657.741

.  601.6-38
21.703

735 1.402
439,070 518.501
69.662 239.096

85,414

if t 135 112 <; 20 2(vS094

S '752.116 • 5  4.763.183
129,497 398.530
45.508 1.244,211
65.965 296.322

133 6.S52
.5.709 14.020

183.122 247.454

59.518 1,233,525
153.192 -909.155

6,619 11.772
4.588 l2,3-.7

43.430 t77.6-.6
113.918 -175.667

1.027 2.704
2.675 99.924

300 VD1.S24
' 13.045

49,579 i52.ie;
31,929 33,172
81,034 124.011
17,341 ■ 26,s2£
2,767 2.305

47,535 06.050
5.675 57,172
3,912 103.095

45.771
139,968 1,382.087

8,135.612
65.4 H

1.948.672

:i.94a.672)

19.939.337

S  19.939.037

See Independent Auditors' Report
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. IKC.

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS <

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MAY31. 2022

FEDERAL GRANTOR/

PASS-THROUOH RRAfn'OR/PROGRAM TITLE

ASSISTANCE

LISTING

NUMBER

■V

PASS-THROUGH
GRANTOR'S NAME GRANTOR'S NUMBER

FEDERAL
EXPENDITURE

U.S. Dcoartmem Of Awlculture
Spezlal Supplemontal Nutrtbn ProgrBm tor

Woiriuii, Infants, aivl Clilldraci (WIC} 10.557 Slate uf NH, Capartiiiant of Heallh &'Huiitan Sarvicaa 010-090-526000i)0-102-500734 5 200.358

Child end Adutl Care Food Program
Child end Aduti Caro Food Progrom

10.'558
iO.SSfl

State of NH. Dapartment of Education
Stoto of NH.'Dcparirncnt of Education

Unknown

Unknown
S ■114.75X)

S9.483 204.273

FoodOlstribution Cluster
Commodity Susplomonbl Food Program
Commodity S'u;plemen*3l Food Program (Food Corr-modltles!

I0.S65

10.56b .

State of NH. Department of Health & Human Services
Cammimily Action Program Belknap-Merrbnack Counlies

010 ̂ 0-62600000-102-800734
Unknown

2.400
106.330 108.730

•  Tot-sl U.S. Deportment of Agrlculturo '•
-

S . 563,370

U.S. Deoartmsnt of Housino and Urban Devalooinent

Community OavAlorimsnl Slock Granis/Stale's Program anri
Nort-Entiiiemem Grants In Hav\-Rii 14.22H City ni Keena SCS'Shftller lmpro»'ements s 618.018

Emargency Solutions Grant Program
COVlD-i9 Emergency Solutiorrs Grant Program'

M.231
14.231

S'.at8 of NH. DHhS. Bureau of Housing Supports
Stats of NH. DHHS, Bureau of Housing Supports

O5-O5-05-95831O-7176OOOOO-IO2.5O731
05-95-42-4230'.0-79270000

s 12.255
283.853 296.108

SupoolK/e Housing Program
Suppola/a Housing Pn>gram

14.235
14.235

Stats of NH. DHHS. Bureau of Houslrrg Suppoils
Slate uf NH, DHHS, Bureau of Housing Supports

65-95-95-95d310-717600000-102-^731
05-95-42-4230*.0-792700(M

^133.970''"
27.970 161.940

Shelter Plus Care 14.238
J  .

Siatv uf NH. DHHS. Bureau of Housing Suppoits ,NH0057L1T001910 226,294
It

CorVmjum of Care Program
Conilnjum o: Cara Program
ConlinAim of Care Program

Totiil U.S. Dapartment of HoutUng and Urhan DeN'^oprnftni

14.26/

14.267

14.267

State of NH, DHH.S, Bureau of Housing Supports
State of NH; DHHS, Bureau of Hous^ Supports
Slala of NIH, OKHSj Bureau of Houskig Supports,

}
V

NH0092L1T001904

NHC09CL1Tq0l904
NH0074L1t66i907

83.228

126.004

83.857 293.089

S 1.506.349

U.S. Deoartmcnt erf Trananortntion Federal Transit Administration (FTAl
Fonr.u'a Gniiits for Rural Areas 20.509

/  " 1
State of NH, Department of Transporta'Jon 04-96-e6-964010-2016 S ^.491

Transit Seri^c^ Programs Cluster
Enhanced Mobility ol Seniors and tnc'rriduals with DisabUilies 20;513 State of NH, Department of Iransports'Jon 04-96-96-'954010-2916 56.465

Federal Transit Cluster

Sus end Ous Facilities Formula R Discretionary Prtjgrams
(Bus Program) 20.526 State of Ni l. Department of Transportatlrxt 04-96-96-934010-2916 3.028

TotslU.S. Department of Transportation Federal Transit Administration (FTA) ' '
See Notes lo Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ^

s 607.084
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SgRWCgS INC.

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR'THE YEAR ENDED MAY 31.2022

FEDERAL GRANTORi

PASS-THROUGH GRANTOR/PROGRAM TITLE

U.S. Doonrtmant of Trensurv

Coronavirus Relief Fund

Emergency Rcniai Asclsunco Program

Total U.S. Depanment of Treacury-

U .8. OanartmBnt of Etrorav

Woadwti^atwii Ai&isU«>c« foi Lotv-lnconie Pwsuiiii

TaWl US. Oepariment of Hnarriy

U.S. DcBamncm of Health & Human Sctvicos

Aging Cluster
Sp«dal Programs lor Ifm A^iiy, rulo III. Pad B.

Gmntfl fnr Riippofllve Sevicns and Saninr Centars

Sporiai Pfcgrama lor ihe Aging, Titio 111. Part B.
Grants for Supaortivc So'-riccs and Senior Ccnicrs

Grants to States to Suppon Oral Health Worlcforca ActKiiles

Activities to Support Stale. Trtoal. Local ar^ Territorial (STLT)
l-iealih Departmftnt Response lo Pubtic Healfh or KesBhtstre

Crtsss

Low ircone Homo Energy' Assistance (Fuel Assis'snca)
Low Income Horne Er>ergy Assistance (BWP)

ASSISTANCE

• LISTING

number

21.019

■21.023

PASS-THROUGH
GRANTOR'S NAME

State of NH. CHHS. Bureau of Housing Supports
Novl' Harr.pshl.'e Housing

51.042 Sl^ of NH. Office of Energy & Planning

g3.C4c Slate of NH, Office of Energy & Planrvng

03.044 smtft ol NH. i:hHS, Bureau of Eklerty 4 ArtiBt Ser/inw

93.238 State Of NH, DHHS. NH ModicoW

93.291 State of NH, DHHS. Uivlsio,-. of Publl; Heath Services

93.568 Slate of NH. Office Of Energy 4 Planning
93.568 Stale of NH, Office of Eiwrg/A Plaiiriirs

t

State of NH. DHHS, Administration for C.nil:ron &

01-02-02401D-7706-074.5C-0537

05-95-48-4810'0-7872

1008368

01OOOOs/y10000500/31

02-52-52-520010-18870000-074-500587
01-02-02-024010-77050000-500587

02-52-D2-520010-ie870bOO-G74-500G87

FEDERAL

GRANTOR'S NUMBER EXPENDITURE

U>-95-42-423U1U-1941lX)00 $ 60,550

UnKncvvn 11;410.655

S tl.471,314

01-02-0240l0.7708-074-50058r s 859.1 :w

1 860.132

COViO-tO Low Income Home Enorgy A&sistanca
ARPALow Inoomo Homo Energy Assistence (BWP)
ARPA Low Income HorriB Energy Asaislance

93.568
53.568

.53.588

Families. Office of Community Sorvtcee
State of NH. Ottico of Energy 6 Plannlnj.
Slate r^ NH. OHIca of Energy & Planninc.

Grant /|I2001NH£5C3
02-052-052-620010-2-Ma)000-074.500587

02-05'2-l)52-S2O01O-244SO00O

{^ommonity Sery|«s Block Grant 93.509
'  1

Stale of NH. DHHS. ON. of Family Aisirarce
State of NIJ. Di ll IS. ONlston of Ecprpm'c 4 Housing

.500731

COVIO-10 Community Services Block Grant 93.569 Stability 500731

Community Services Block Grant - Discretionary
.  i

93.570
!

Stale of NH. DHHS. ON. of Famif/ A|Rel8nca Unknown

1

See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
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5.730

70,240 $

1,426,06'.-
297,968

■  13B.431

307.274
33.817

4.150.168

357,612

222.106

75.970

2.463

16.071

6.353,519

579.716

22.652



SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC.

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MAY ai. 2022

ASSISTANCE

• FEDERAL GRANTOR.'

PASS-THROUGH GRANTOR/PROGRAM TITLE

USTIHG

NUMBER

PASS-THROUGH

GRANTOR'S NAME GRANTOR'S NUMBER

FEDERAL

EXPENDITURE

U.S. Deofiriment of Health & Human Services icontlnuedl

Head Start Cluster

Head Start

CCVID-19.1 lead Start

Tola! U.S. Dcpartmsnl of Heelih & l iuman Services

93.ROO

9'J.ijUU

(

Direcl Funding '
Olrea Funding

i

t

I

01CH011494

01H£00036e

$ 2.270,664

68.776 S 2.339.860

S 9.330.CS3

U.S. Dennrlmenl of Homeland Securllv

Emergency Food and.Shelter National Boaro Program 97.024

1

Slate ol NH. Om iS. Offir-e t){ Hianen SersTcea Unknown
-

$ 9.293

Total U.S. Deiwrlnigiit uf HomeliinO Security
t

3 9.203

TOTAL
1

S 24.507.496

See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards
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SOUTHWESTERN COMMUNITY SERVICES. INC.

NOTES to iSCHEDULExOF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MAY 31, 2022

NOTE 1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

'  - The accompanying schedule of expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule)
includes the federal award activity of Southwestern Community Services. Inc.
under prograrnspf the federal government fpr the year ended May 31 ,.2022. The
information in this Schedule is presented-in accordance with the requirements of
Title- 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles,, and Audit Requirements for ■Federal Awards

"(Unifonri Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of
the operations of Southwestern Community Services, Inc., it is hot intended to
and does not present the financial position, changes-in net assets, or cash flows
of the Organization. >

NOTE 2 SUMIVIARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of
accounting. Such expehdifures are recognized following the cost principles
contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain'lypes of expenditures are not
allowable or are limited as tofeimbursement.

NOTE 3 INDIRECT COST RATE
■Southwestem. Commuhity Services, Inc. has elected hot to use the ten percent
de'miriimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform Guidance.

NOTE 4 FOOD DONATION
Nonmohetaiiy assistance is reported in the Schedule at the fair value of the
commodities received,and disbursed.

NOTE 5 SUBRECIPIENTS
Southwestern Community Services. Inc. had no subrecipients for the year ended
May 31, 2022.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL

OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITiNG STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors of

Southwestern Community Services, Inc.

We have .audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of Arnerica and the standards applicable to financial audits contained In Government
Auditing Standards: \ssue6 by the Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated
finahcjal statements^pf Southwestern Cpmmynity Services.JInc; (a nonprofit,
corjDoratlon) and related companies, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as pf May 31, 2022, and the .related consolidated'Staternents of activities, functional
expenses, and-eash flows for the year then ended, and the related hPtes-to the "consolidated
financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated February 9, 2023.

Report on'Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered
Southvyesterh Community Services; Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting (internal
control) to/determine the audit, procedures-that are-appropriate in the circurinstanges for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on the consolidated ̂ financial statements, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Southv/estem Community Services.
Inc.'s internal; cdntrol. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of
Southwestern Community Services. Inc.'s internal control.

A deficiency in internai control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
managelTient or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. ' A material weakness is a
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such-that there is a reasonable-
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's consolidated financial statements will not
be prevented, ,or detected and corrected, -on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with govemance.
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Our consideration of the internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first,
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identifyall deficiencies in internal control
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. Given these
limitations, during our audit we-did; not identify any-deficiencies in internal control that we,
consider to be material weaknesses. We" identified a deficiency in internal control, described in
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2022-001 that we
consider to be a significant deficiency.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters
As part Of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Southwestern Community Services,
lnc;'s consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement.^ we performed tests-
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements,
noncompiiance with which could have a direct and material effect on the consolidated financial
statemeiits. However. providing..an:opinion. on„comp!iance with .those proyisions.was not.an.
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do-not express such an opinion. The results of our
tests disclosed no instances of noncompiiance. or other matters that are required to "be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Southwestern Community Sehrices. Inc.'s Response td-Findings

Government Auditing S/andards requires the .auditor to, perform limited procedures- on^
Southwestern Community Services'. Inc.'s response to the findings identified in our audit and-
described in the accompanying- schedule of findirigs and questioned costs. Southwestern
Community, Services, Inc.'s response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures-

-appliedimthe^audit of'the'financiafstatements''and;'accordingly.'we-express-ho^opinion"bri'the-
■  response. ,

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of thisTepdrt is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that .testing, and mot to pfovide.an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Organization's internal cpntrolor oh corhpliance. This report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government .-Auditing. Standards, in consid'erihg the
Organization's internal cpntrol andi;cqrnp!iance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable
for any other purpose. ■ ' ■

Wolfeboro, New Hampshire
February 9, 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON COMPLIANCE

FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL'
OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE

To the Board of Directors of
Southwestern Community Services, Inc.

1  ̂ • '

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

'  I

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program
We have audited Southwestern Community Services. Inc.'s; (a New Hampshire nonprofit
corporation)-compliance with-the types of compliance- requirements described in the 0MB'
Compliance St/pp/emenf. that could have a direct and material effect on each of Southwestern
Community Services. Inc.'s. major federal programs for the .year ended May 31, 2022.
Southwestern Community Services, Inc.'s major federal programs are identified in the summary
of auditors' results section of me accompanying schedule pi findings arid questioned eo'sts.

In our opinion, Southwestern Community Services. Inc. complied, In all material respects, with
the compliance, requirements referred to above .that could have, a direct and material effect on
each of its major federal programs for the year ended May 31, 2022.

Basis for Opihion.oniEach Major Federal Program

We conducted .our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted ill the" United Slates of Arneriea; the standards ,applicable to financial audits
contained \ri. Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Uniform ■ Adminisjrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards (Uniforrh Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and ,the Uniform
Guidance are further described in the Auditors'Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance
section of our report.

We are required-to be independent of Southwestern Community Services, Inc. and to meet our
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements-relating to. our
audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does
not provide a legal determinatiori of, Southwestern Community Services,. Inc.'s compliance, with
the compliance requirements referred to above.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the
design, implementation,, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the
requirements of laws-, statutes,. regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant
agreements applicable to Southwestern Community Services, Inc.'s federal programs.



Auditors- Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with
the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and
express an opinion on Southv/estern Community Services, Inc.'s compliance, based on our
audit.-Reasonable assurance, is a high level of. assurance but is-not absolute assurance and
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted" in accordance with generally accepted
■auditing standards. Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 'Guidance vvjil always
detect material noncompliance when it exists! The risk of not detecting material noncompliance
resulting-from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional ornissions, misrepresentations, or "the override of internal control..
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if
there is a.substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it, would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user of- the report on compliance about Southwestern ■
Comrfiunity Services-. Inc.'s compliance with the requirertients of each major federal program
as-a-whole: • - -

In,performing an audit-in. accordance with generally accepted auditing,standards. Government
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform,Guidance, we;

•  Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit:^ -

•  Identify and assess the ri sks of material noncompliance. whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit-procedures responsive to-those risks. Such
procedures include examining,"oVa test basis", evidence 'regard Southwestern
Gommunity Services, Inc.'s compliance', with the. conipliance requirements referred '
to above and performing such other procedures as \ye considered-necessary in the
circumstances.

• Obtain an understanding of Southwestern Community Services, Inc.'s intemal
control over compliance relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate In the circumstances and to test arid report on intemal control
over,compliance in accordance with the' Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Southwestern Community
.Services, Inc.'s'intemal control over compliance. Accordingly,, no such opiniori is
expressed.

.We-are required to" communicate with those charged with-governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope arid timing of the'audit and, any significant deficiencies and material

.weaknesses in internal, control over compliance that we identified during the audit.
«  • • • • '

Report on Interrial Control Over Compllarice ,
A deficiency in internal control over compliance, exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliari"ce does not allow management or employees, inthe norfnal course of--performing
their -assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, rioricompliance with a type of
compliance requirerrient of a federal program on a timely basis-. A material weakness in internal
control: over compliance Is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies in internal control over
compliance, such that there is a reasonable-possibility that material noncompliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a federal program \vill not be prevented, or detected and corrected,
on a timely' basis. A significant deficiency in internal control'over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of-deficiencies, in internal control over corripliance with a type of compliance
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requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a.material weakness in Ihternaj.control
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over cornpliance was for the limited purpose described in
the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed-to,
identify all deficiencies in internal confrol'over compliance that might be materialvyeaknesses or
significant deficiencies in intemal control over compliance. Given ithese limitations, during our
audit we did not identify any deficienciesln infernal control over compliance that we consider to
be material weaknesses, .as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in internal control over compliance -may exist that were not identified;)

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
intemal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The-purpose of this report onMnternal-cGntrol over compliance is solely to describe the-scope-of
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the-
requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other
purpose.

,VVblfeboro;.New,Hampshire^
February 9. 2023
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SOUTHWESTERN COMIVIUNITY SERVICESV INC.

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MAY 31. 2022

SUMMARY OF AUDITORS' RESULTS

1. The auditors' report expresses ah unmodified opinion on whether the consolidated'financial
statements of Southwestern Comnhunity Services, Inc. and related companies were
prepared in accordance with GAAP.

2. One significant deficiency disclosed during the .audit of the consolidated financial
statements are reported in the Independent. Auditors' Report on Interndl Control Over
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters-Based on 'an Audit of Financial
St'ateWehts'Re'rfpftvQd in 'Accordance'with 'Government'~Auditing'Standards:-~~t^o-raaier\a\
weaknesses.are reported.

3. No instances of noncompliance material to the consolidated firfancial statements of
Southwestern Community Services. Inc. and related cornpanies". which'would be required
to be reported In accordance with Go/ernmenf Auditing Standards were" disclosed during
the audit.

4. No significant deficiencies in internal control over major federal award programs are,
reported in the Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and

^_on Internal CpnJfpJ^Over^CqmpJiance Required by the ̂ Uniform Guidance. No material
weaknesses areTreporteci' " ' " '

5. The auditors'report on compliance for,the major federal aWa'rd programs for Southwestern
Community Services, Inc:. expresses an unmodified opinion on. all major feOeraJ programs.

6. Audit findings that are required to be"reported in accordance with 2 CFR section 200.516(a)
are reported in this Schedule.'

7. The programs tested as major programs were: li.S. Department of Health and Human
Seivices; Low-Income Home Energy Assistance, AlN, 93.568; U.S. Department of
Treasury; Emergency Rental Assistance. Program, ALN 21.023; and U.S. Department of
Transportation; Formula Grants for Rural Areas. ALN 20.509.

'  r

8. The threshold for distinguishing Type A and. B programs was $750,000.
/

9. Southwestern Community Services, Inc. was determined to be a low-risk auditee.

FINDINGS : FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AUDIT

SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCY

2022-001 - Lack of accuratevand timely reconciliations

Cfiteria: Ihtemal'controls ensuring timely and accurate .reconciliations.

Condition: There was a delay in accurate account reconciliations at May 31. 2022.
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Cause: The Organization's internahcontrol poiicies- ahd procedures were not followed as
designed.

Effect: Significant and material jouriial entries were provided by the client \to ensure
accurate financial statements.

I

Context: Reconciliations.were not prepared timely, which resulted in late client entries
many of which were a'result of audit.testing and inquiries made by auditor.

Recommendation: Internal control policies and procedufes should be followed throughout
the year to ensure accurate and timely reconciliations.

Views of Responsible Officials: The Organization acknowledges that internal control
policies relative to. certain reconciliations were not, -followed as established. The
Organization's-beadership and'the-Fiscai Department Leadership is"aware that-is'this'not
acceptable and the expectation is that all fiscal controls and policies are to be followed in a
timely and accurate manner.

FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT

None

\
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SOUTHWESTERN COIVIMUNITY SERVICES. INC.

SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MAY 31. 2022

There were no findings, or .questioned costs that were, required to be reported in'the Schedule
of Findings and Questioned Costs'for the year ended May 31,2021.
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Southwestern Community Services, Inc.

Board of Directors - 2022 Composition

Cheshire County Sullivan County

Constituent

Sector

PRIVAtE

Sector

Public

Sector

Ron Nason

SCS Tenant

Mary Lou Muffling
Fall Mountain Emergency Food
Shelf

Alstead Friendly Meals

Heather Cameron

Head Start Policy Council .
Parent Representative

Anne Beattie

Newport Service Organization

Kevin Watterson, Chair

Clarke Companies (retired)
David Edkins, Vice-Choir

Town of Walpole

Dominic Perkins, Secretory
Savings Bank of Walpole

Kerry Belknap Morris, M.Ed.
Early Childhood Education
River Valley Community College

Jay Kahn
State Senator, District 10'

Derek Ferland

Sullivan County Manager

Andy Bphannon
Parks, Recreation and Facilities

Director

City of Keene

1

Liz Emerson

^ Planning and Zoning -
Administrator

Town of Charlestown



KEY ADMINISTRATIVE PERSONNEL

NH DEPT OF TRANSPORTATION

Agency Name: Southwestern Community Services, inc.

Program Name:FTA 5310

Name & Title Key Administrative Personnel

Annual Salary Of Key
Administrative

Personnel

Percentage of

Salary Paid By

Contract

••^A?tiou,nt-l^a'd ̂ Byr
i;"-'7X'''rc6ritract..:.'

Beth Daniels. Chief Executive Officer $121,000 0.00% :-W.:V/if.;:!,uy:.$0:00;;

Meq Freeman, Chief Financial Officer $113,531 0.00%

Keith Thibault. Chief Development Officer $97,000 0.00%

,

■I--'-

-•

■

I. 1. ■ 1



Beth Daniels

Experience

Southwestern Community Services, Inc., Keene, NH
Chief Operating Officer 03/2016-Present
•  Responsible for all day-to-day program operations of the agency
•  Supervise Program Directors, including WIC, Energy, and Housing Stabilization
•  Ensure that all state and federal regulations are followed while those in need receive a smooth delivery

of service

Director of Energy and Employment Programs 10/2008-12/2016
•  Oversee all daily operations for Fuel Assistance, Electric Assistance, Neighbor Helping Neighbor,

Senior Energy Assistance, Weatherization, HRRP, CORE, and Assurance 16 as well as the employment
programs Workplace Success, Work Experience Program, and WIA.

Workforce Development Director 11/2006-10/2008
•  Supervise, direct, coach, and encourage staff of six within four programs
•  Collaborate with agency staff, community members and state contract holders to achieve common goals,

including agency name recognition and program success
•  Perform all SCS Program Director tasks including PPRs and budget management

Families® Work Employment Specialist. 03/2006 - 11/2006
• Managed a caseload of fifty (50) clients throughout the Keene, Claremont, Concord, and Nashua areas
• Worked closely with staff from Southwestern Community Services, Inc. and Southern New Hampshire

Services

•  Gained a strong working knowledge of all SCS programs for referral purposes

Second Start, Concord, NH

'^are^Ue^l^ment'Spe^^ 11 /r004 - 03/2006
•  Facilitated daily job-readiness classes and skill-building exercises
•  Assisted participants with barrier resolution and the job search process
• Maintained participant records and completed reporting requirements
•  Received ongoing training in teaching techniques and learning styles

Nina's Family Daycare, Swanzey, NH 10/2003 — 11/2004
Daycare Provider

•  Responsible for meal planning, payment records, supplies, and activities
•  Acquired CPR & First Aid certification

Southwestern Community Services, Inc., Keene, NH ^
Case Manager, Homeless Services 09/2002 — 10/2003
•  Responsible for all daily operations of housing program, rules; and regulations
•  Completed weekly and monthly progress reports

•  Coordinated house meetings, workshops, case conferences, and life skills classes
Case Manager, Welfare-to-Work 05/2000-09/2002
•  Provided job placement and retention services for caseload of forty (40) clients
•  Gained working knowledge of Department of Health & Human Services, Immigration & Naturalization

Services, comrnunity agencies, and SCS



Education and Training i .

Results Oriented Management & Accountability (ROMA)

'^•rant Writing Workshop
lieshire County

Nonviolent Crisis Intervention

Crisis Prevention Institute, Inc.

Leadership Training
T ad Dwyer Consulting ^

Criticism & Discipline Skills for Managers
CareerTrack

How to Supervise People
. CareerTrack

Career Development Facilitator Training
National Career Development Association
120-hour NCDA training

Certified Workforce Development Specialist
National Association of Workforce Development Professionals

Jnfection Control & Bloodborne Pathogens
^ ..ome Health Care

Bachelor of Arts in Human Services

Franklin Pierce College
Graduated cum laude i

2016-2017

05/2012

2012

2010-201 1

1 1/2007

1 1/2007

09/2005

06/2005

^oT/2003'

05/2002

References Available



Margaret Hreeman

Experience

2000-Present

Southwestern Community Services Inc.
Keene, NH , '

Chief Financial Officer. (2014 - present)

Supervising the quality of accounting and financial reporting of SCS; a Community
Action Agency. Total funding of $18 million; federal, state and local funding sources.
Primary responsibilities include overseeing the accounting functions, implementation
and monitoring of internal controls, reporting financial position to the Board of
Directors, preparation of the annual A-133 audit, member of agencies Senior Staff.

Fiscal Director (2000-2014)

Responsible to lead and manage the daily operations of the Fiscal Department of SCS:
Primary duties include budget preparation and analysis, financial statement preparation
and audit coordination.

1993-2000

Efnile J'.'Eegere'MahagemenfCorp
Keene, NH

Accountant

Provided bookkeeping for real estate management/development corp. Managed 16
affordable housing properties. Responsible for cash management, general ledger, A/P, ̂
A/R, financial statement prep, and audit prep. Leasing Manager of large
commercial/retail property responsible for lease management and marketing of over 30
retail spaces.

Education

Leadership New Hampshire, Graduate 2011

Plymouth State University, Plymouth, NH
M.B.A., 1999

Keene State College, Keene, NH
B.S., Management, 1991; concentration Mathematics and Computer Science



Keith F. Thibault (603) 719-4208 (work)
kthibault(5)scshclDS.org (e-mail) ^

Skills Summary

f

-  Effective "hands-on" manager with proven supervisory experience.
Honest, dependable and self-motivated.
Strong written and oral communicator with PC skills & experience. /
Detail oriented, highly organized, flexible and hard-working.
Able to effectively coordinate multiple projects and tasks. .

Expefiencc '

Southwestern Community Services, Inc., Keene, New Hampshire
Housing Director - October, 1993 to December 1998
Director of Housing & Economic Development--January-1999-to June 2001 • *
Development Director - July 2001 to August 2007 ^
chief development officer September 2007 - Present

Primarily responsible for the acquisition, development'and financing of over 450 units of affordable
housing, five Head Start pre-school facilities and 100,000 square feet of commercial space in fourteen
communities in southwestern New Hampshire. Member of the agency's Senior Staff. The chief
development officer position has grown to ,-include all economic, program and philanthropic
development activities within this very dynamic Community Action Agency. The position also includes

■  the responsibility to represent the organization at numerous community events and on local, state and
rpginnal hnard.s. Highlights as Housing Director included the development of ̂comprehensive Property
Management component that currently maintains and manages all agency owned real estate; successful
administration of a federal HOPE 3 first time home buyer program in Sullivan County as well as being
the recipient of many awards for the development of historically significant properties.

Rural Housing Improvement, Winchendon, Massachusetts
Director of Home Ownership and Housing Counseling - June 1993 to October, 1993

This Program Director position consists primarily of the administration of a $500,000 HOPE III
Implementation grant, HOME-funding for First-time Home Buyers of $250,000, coordination of a State
Finance Authority approved Home Buyer Education course, management of several government
property disposition programs (FDIC, RTC and-Fannie Mae), several rehabilitation programs, as well as
all housing counseling activities for the component. Staff supervised include two Housing Developers,
one or more Rehabilitation Specialists, one or more,Housing Counselors as well as support staff.

/

.  Assistant Director for Administration/Leased Housing - April 1998 to May 1993

Administration of a nearly two thousand household Section 8 Rental Assistance program comprised the
overall scope of this position. Primary responsibilities included the disbursement of nearly nine million

'  dollars annually in Housing Assistance Payments to more than eleven hundred landlords, direct day-to-
day supervision of eight staff, liaison work with all other Agency components as well as accurate record
keeping per HUD regulations. Highlights included the creation of Agency Family Self-SufFiciency
Program (FSS) and serving on a statewide Project Coordinating Committee for FSS. I also represented
jRHI on several committees of our State Housing Association as well as serving on several in-house
committees focusing on employee benefits, performance evaluations and the rewriting of Agency job
descriptions to confomi to the American Disabilities Act.'



Program Representative/Leased Housing - September 1986 to April 1998

Responsible for the administration and management of a two hundred-plus household caseload. Duties
included initial and annual inspections of all units, rent negotiation and general file maintenance.
Position required an unusually high degree of organizational, interpersonal and technical skills.
Thorough knowledge of market area, Federal Housing Quality Standards and HUD Section 8 regulations
were required.

Education . ^

University of Massachusetts at Amherst ^ ^
Bachelor of Arts cum laude - 1983 ,

Major: Econorhics witJi emphasis on Labor Ecpiiomjcs . ... .. : _
Minor: Political Science with emphasis on local government .
Served a one-year paid internship with the University's Housing Administration, which led to
becoming the Assistant Director of the program during my junior year.
Completed a full semester academic internship serving as an assistant to the Town Manager of
Action, Massachusetts.

Took advanced courses in Economics and Latin through the Liberal Arts Honors Program

Civic and Other Activities

Former Big Brother volunteer, Keene
*"CuiTeht'Co-Cha:ir*^dfHe^dirigTdr HdrheVbur'RegidnaPHousing Coalition" -—"r; -

-  -Current co-chair of the Southwestern Region Planning Commission's Economic Developrnent
Advisory Committee
Former volunteer at McKerley Health Care Center, Keene
Former Chair of the Board of Directors for the Keene Day Care Center

Current elected Vice Chairman of the Swanzey Zoning Board of Adjustment.
Current founding board member and Chairperson of the Monadnock Collaborative, a 501 (c) (3)
organization formed to provide regional information and supported referral services.
Dedicated husband and involved father of three children ages twenty-two, twenty and eight.

References available upon request.


